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Court File No.: 3 r)1)
ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

IN THE MATTER OF THE LIQUIDATION AND WINDING-UP OF
OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 244 OF THE
CORPORATIONS ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.38

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

TO THE RESPONDENT:

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the applicant.
The claim made by the applicant appears on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing on Tuesday, February 20,
2018, at 10:00a.m., at 80 Dundas Street, London, ON N6A 6A3

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any
step in the application or to be served with any documents in the application, you
or an Ontario lawyer acting for you must forthwith prepare a notice of
appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the Rules of Civil Procedure, serve it on
the applicants lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on
the applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and you or your
lawyer must appear at the hearing.

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY
EVIDENCE TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE
WITNESSES ON THE APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to
serving your notice of appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the
applicants lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the
applicant, and file it, with proof of service, in the court office where the
application is to be heard as soon as possible, but at least four days before the
hearing.

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE
GIVEN IN YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF
YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY
LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A
LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.
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N. D'Onofrio

Date: February 4 , 2018 Issued by  
Local registrar

Address of 80 Dundas Street
court office London, ON N6A 6A3
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APPLICATION

1. The applicant makes application for:

(a) An order substantially in the form attached at Tab 3 to the

Application Record, including, but not limited to:

(i) An order abridging the time for, or dispensing with, service

of the Application Record, if necessary.

(ii) An order for the wind-up of Oxford Golf and Country Club,

Limited (the "Corporation") pursuant to sections 243(a)

and (d) of the Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.38 (the

"Act'), pending the liquidation and distribution of all assets

of the Corporation;

(iii) An order appointing BDO Canada Limited as liquidator of

the Corporation, pursuant to section 246 of the Act;

(iv) An order staying any proceeding, attachment,

sequestration, distress, or execution against the Corporation

without leave of the Court, pursuant to section 251 of the

Act;

(v) Costs of the application to be paid from the assets of the

Corporation, following assessment of same, pursuant to

section 255 of the Act; and

(b) Such further and other relief as counsel may advise and this

Honourable Court may permit.

2. The grounds for the application are:

(a) The Corporation was incorporated in Ontario as a not-for-profit

social club with share capital on June 21, 1909 by Letters Patent;
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(b) The Corporation operated the Craigowan Golf Club (the

"Business"), located near Woodstock, Ontario;

(c) By special resolution of the shareholders on March 8, 2017, the

shareholders authorized the Board of Directors to accept an offer

to purchase the Business from LH Group Golf Inc. ("LGG Inc.");

(d) By Asset Purchase Agreement, dated March 23, 2017 (the "APA"),

the Corporation sold substantially all of its assets, including the

property municipally known as 595838 Highway 59, Woodstock, to

Cardinal Golf Group (Craigown) Inc. (the "Purchaser"), the

permitted assignee of LGG Inc.;

(e) The proceeds of the sale were used to pay the Corporation's

secured and unsecured creditors, leaving a portion of remaining

funds in the Corporation's bank account;

(f) In addition to the remaining sale proceeds, the Corporation may

also be entitled to tax credits, which could provide additional funds;

(g) The Corporation has no ongoing business;

(h) Pursuant to Section 4.1 of the APA, the Corporation gave the

Purchaser an indemnity of specific types of claims identified

therein, which indemnity expires on March 23, 2018;

(i) Subject to a claim under the indemnity provided to the Purchaser,

the Corporation, to the best of its knowledge, has no further

financial obligations other than certain professional fees for the

ongoing maintenance of accounting and legal matters through

dissolution, and the premiums for runoff insurance for the directors;

co The Corporation has prepaid the premiums to the insurer, in trust;
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(k) By special resolution dated December 19, 2017, the shareholders

authorized the winding-up of the Corporation on the following.

terms:

(I)

A resolution to authorize the Corporation to apply to the
Superior Court of Justice under section 243 of the
Corporations Act to approve the winding up of the
Corporation to commence after March 23, 2018 and in such
application to request that the Court authorize the
appointment of a liquidator for the purpose of winding up its
affairs and distributing its property, namely BDO Canada
Limited, and the directors of the Corporation are hereby
authorized and approved to take any and all actions
required to give effect to the foregoing.

Support for the special resolution was unanimous by all

shareholders present at the special meeting and those who voted

by proxy;

(m) The Corporation wishes to be wound-up and to distribute any

remaining funds to the Corporation's shareholders;

(n) The Corporation wishes to appoint a liquidator at this time so that it

may confirm the financial position of the corporation and develop a

wind-up and distribution plan, which can be executed upon shortly

after March 23, 2018;

(o) The sole reason for the March 23, 2018 commencement date for

winding up in the special resolution was to ensure the Corporation

would satisfy any claim for indemnity by the Purchaser that might

arise;

(p) The Corporation believes that to permit for an efficient liquidation

process and to allow for the wind-up of the Corporation as soon as

possible following the expiry of its indemnity on March 23, 2018, it

is just and equitable to appoint the liquidator and permit the claims-

bar process to begin forthwith;

ji
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(q) BDO Canada Limited has consented to act as the liquidator;

(r) Sections 237, 243(a), 243(d), 244, 245, 246, 251, and 255 of the

Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.38; and

(s) Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this

Honourable Court may permit.

3. The following documentary evidence will be used at the hearing of the

application:

(a) Affidavit of David Balfour, sworn February 6, 2018; and

(b) Such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this

Honourable Court may permit.

February %, 2018 • LERNERS LLP
130 Adelaide Street West, Suite 2400
Toronto, ON M5H 3P5

Domenico Magisano LS#: 45725E
dmagisano@lerners.ca
Tel: 416.601.4121
Fax: 416.601.4123

Alan Melamud LS#: 58370F
amelamud@lerners.ca
Tel: 416.601.4128
Fax: 416.601.2748

Lawyers for the Applicant
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Court File No.:

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

IN THE MATTER OF THE LIQUIDATION AND WINDING-UP OF
OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 244 OF THE
CORPORATIONS ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.38

AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID BALFOUR
(Sworn February 6, 2018)

I, David Balfour, of the City of Woodstock, MAKE OATH AND SAY:

1. I am a Director and the President of the Applicant Oxford Golf and

Country Club, Limited (the "Corporation"). As such, I have personal knowledge

r— of the matters to which I herein depose, except where stated to be based on

information and belief. In all such instances I have stated the source of the

information and believe it to be true.

2. I swear this affidavit in support of the Corporation's application for a wind-

up order and to have BDO Canada Limited appointed as the liquidator (the

"Liquidator") of the Corporation and for no other purpose.

Background

3. The Corporation was incorporated as a not-for-profit social club with

share capital on June 21, 1909 by Letters Patent. Attached as Exhibit "A" is a

copy of the Letters Patent.

4. At all material times, the Corporation owned and operated the Craigowan

Golf Club (the "Business"), a semi-private golf club located near Woodstock,

Ontario. The Business operated real property owned by the Corporation and

municipally known as 595838 Hwy 59 North, Woodstock, Ontario (the

"Property").
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5. The Corporation's volunteer board of directors presently consists of David

Beatty, Paul Green, Tony Schlegel, Drew Symons, Brenda MacDonald, George

Hodgins, and myself (the "Directors").

6. There are approximately 1,434 shareholders of the Corporation. While

the Directors know many of the shareholders' names and addresses, given that

the Corporation is over 100 years old, some of their locations are unknown.

Sale of the Business

7. In 2016, the Corporation faced financial difficulties, and it was determined

that the Corporation should solicit offers for the sale of the Business and the

Property.

8. By special resolution of the shareholders on March 8, 2017, the

shareholders authorized the Directors to accept an offer to purchase the

Business and the Property from LH Group Golf Inc. ("LGG"). Attached as

Exhibit "B" is a copy of the shareholder resolution authorizing the Directors to

! I accept the offer.

9. By Asset Purchase Agreement, dated March 23, 2017 (the "APA"), the

Corporation sold substantially all of its assets (including the Property) to Cardinal

Golf Group (Craigowan) Inc. (the "Purchaser"), the permitted assignee of LGG.

Attached as Exhibit "C" is a copy of the APA.

10. The transaction under the APA closed on March 23, 2017 and proceeds

of the sale were used to pay the Corporation's secured and known unsecured
r

creditors.

11. Following payment of these creditors there is a surplus of funds currently

held in the Corporation's bank account. The Corporation may also be entitled to

certain tax credits, which would provide additional funds (collectively, the

"Surplus Funds").

12. The Corporation no longer carries on any business.
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13. The APA contains an indemnity provision in favour of the Purchaser as to

specific types of claims identified therein, which indemnity expires on March 23,

2018. To the best of the Directors' knowledge, a claim under this indemnity is

the only contingent claim against the Corporation.

Winding-Up of the Corporation

14. Following the sale of the Business and the repayment of the

Corporation's creditors, it was determined that subject to the indemnity, the

Corporation should be wound-up and the remaining proceeds from the sale paid

out to the Corporation's shareholders.

15. The only remaining obligations of the Corporation, other than the

indemnity, are certain professional fees for the ongoing maintenance of

accounting and legal matters through dissolution, and the premiums for runoff

insurance for the directors.

16. The Corporation has prepaid the insurance premiums to the insurer, in

trust.

17. By special resolution of the shareholders dated December 19, 2017, the

shareholders authorized the winding-up of the Corporation on the following

terms:

A resolution to authorize the Corporation to apply to the Superior
Court of Justice under section 243 of the Corporations Act to
approve the winding up of the Corporation to commence after
March 23, 2018 and in such application to request that the Court
authorize the appointment of a liquidator for the purpose of winding
up its affairs and distributing its property, namely BDO Canada
Limited, and the directors of the Corporation are hereby authorized
and approved to take any and all actions required to give effect to
the foregoing.

Attached as Exhibit "D" is a certified copy of the special resolution authorizing

the winding-up of the Corporation.
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18. Support for the special resolution was unanimous by all shareholders

present at the special meeting and those who voted by proxy.

19. The sole reason for the March 23, 2018 commencement date for winding

up in the special resolution was to ensure the Corporation would satisfy any

claim for indemnity by the Purchaser that might arise.

Appointment of a Liquidator

20. The Directors believe that, at this juncture, it is appropriate to appoint the

Liquidator to permit it to begin to address the many tasks that will ultimately be

required to complete the wind-up of the Corporation following March 23, 2018.

21. The Liquidator will be required to oversee a claims bar process that will

determine whether there are any other creditors of the Corporation, develop a

comprehensive list of shareholders, address numerous shareholder enquiries,

review a considerable volume of the Corporation's records (the "Claims

Process"), and report to the Court on its progress. With the information

obtained from the Claims Process (together with a determination of whether any

funds are payable to the Purchaser pursuant to the indemnity in the APA), the

Liquidator will then be able to develop a distribution plan for the Surplus Funds

that is in accordance with applicable law (the "Distribution Plan").

22. The Distribution Plan will then need to be brought before the Court for

approval.

23. By beginning the process now, the Liquidator will hopefully be in a

position to obtain court approval and implement the Distribution Plan shortly

after March 23, 2018, and then complete the wind-up and dissolution of the

Corporation.

24. BDO Canada Limited has consented to acting as the Liquidator.

Attached as Exhibit "E" is a copy of the Liquidator's consent to act.
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25. Given the foregoing, l am unaware of any reason to delay the

appointment of the Liquidator so that the Liquidator can begin its work.

SWORN BEFORE ME at the City of

Lon lien, in the province of Ontario thiso 

 day of February, 2018.

A OM

!
rf g Affidavits (or as may be)

DTh-n—k 1C-2-( "--
David Balfour
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THE FOLLOWING IS EXHIBIT "A"

TO THE AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID BALFOUR

SWORN BEF 6TH D Y OF FEBRUARY, 2018
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and the Seventh, by the Grace 
of God, of the United

Kingdom of Great Britain and 
Ireland,

and of the British Dominions 
beyond

the Seas, King, Defender of the 
Fait}

Emperor of India.

To all to whom these Presents shall come

Greeting

hereas The-Ontario, Companiesi.,:ket,Provides that, with the

exceptions therein mentioned, the Lieutenant-Governor of our Provit

of Ontario may by Lettera Patent under the Great Seal create and

constitute bodies corporate and politic for any of the purposes to

which the authority of-the:Legislature .of Ontario extends

And Whereas by their Petition in  that behalf the Persons herein

mentiorled - hava.prayed,for'..,Lettets "Patent constituting them a' body

corporate and Politic for tPe dUe-learrying Out of the undertaking.'

hereinafter set forth

ilnd , Whereas41 to the zetisfactkon of

Lieutenant,Governdr-that-the'SaidperSonshave conplied! -'h

conditionS-lOteeedent-to.the grant of the dea5:red.Lettr$:pati
and t at the sI0-..Undertaingjavith!,nr



andEdward

of Woodstock in the County of 
Oxford and PI-ovine- e of Ontario, and

any others who have or may hereafter 
become subscribers to the

memorandum of Agreement of the Company, and their 
successors

respectively, a Cornoration for the purposes and objects 
following,

that is to say: 

(a) To establish, maintain and conduct a Club for the oromotion

and playing of golf and other lawful games and for social purposes;

and (b) To purchase, hold, provide, erect and maintain suitable

lands, buildings and other conveniences or the accomodation of the

members of the Club, their guests and the servants and employees

of the Club:

low 
therefore Know Ye 

that under the 
i,uthority

of the hereinbefore in 
nart recited Statute and 

of any other 
power

or authority whatsoever 
in Us vested in this 

behalf We do by 
these

Our Royal Letters Patent 
hereby create and 

constitute the Persons

hereinafter named, that is to 
say, -----

H a r r 1 lace Bodman, 
Pank Manager;

Malcolm D o u g l a s, Company 
Manager,

W illiam 
Laurie K e r r, Accountant;

H enry 
Alexander L i t t 1 e, 

Barrister-et-La‘l:

Alexander Waterworth 
Moore, G35 Company Manager,

9 lake Thom n son, 
Banker, all of the City

The corporate name of the Club to be

Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited;

The share capital of the ComPany to be ten thousand dollars divided

into two hundred ,Shares of fifty dollars each;

The 8eadOtPIC-e -efthe',Gompany to be.Atthe said City of Woodstock and

the Provisional Directors of the, Comnany-to,'be Mant& Wallace 'DodAlon,

141C°1'm Do40--P 41!enry.11lexa,P40,Littioy4*wodenWaterWorAh Moore
and Edward DiAke 

ThoiAAAAnt-ihaileinetOe41A4iOPedi::'

Anð 
1.1!rPi'daiPMnd41)Pc14X'e(0440Hinar4bert*f-"thatOrPOretion shall

Consist of two classes, 

riameky,LAharehel4dr,S4trdinanYmembers;

(b):,64t0010r41641014,44i4SC4k0401:04405:t.,14etin'Aecornad'411,).
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under the Companies Act 
with the variati ins 

hereafter stateo;

(c) Shareholders shall 
not be entitled to anv 

dividend from the nrofits

(if anv) arising from 
the orerations of the 

Club. Provided nothin

heroin shall affect the 
right of shareholders to 

their distributive

shares in the realized assets 
of the Club in the 

event of its winding

un; (d) Each shareholder 
shall be entitled to a 

reduction of the

annual fees payable by him in respect 
of the membership of 

himself

or of any denendent member of his 
family equivalent to not less 

than

five Per centum of his shareholding. 
Provided nothing herein shall

be construed as requiring a shareholder 
to maintain his membership;

(e) Shares shall be transferable on the books 
of the Club among

shareholders or to any fully qualified Ordinary 
member but shall

not be transferable to any other Person except 
with the consent of

the Directors as expressed by a duly passed 
resolution; (f) Rules

and regulations shall be enacted by the Club in general meeting

governing the method of electing members, their privileges and

conduct in the Club, the resignation and expression of members and

the amendment of such rules and regulations; (g) Ordinary members

shall consist of the applicants for incornoration, any persons who

may sign this memorandum prior to the organization meeting and all

other persons who may be duly elected pursuant to the rules and

regulations; (h) The liability ♦of members shall be limited to the

dues or fees payable by them as may be provided by the rules and

regulations; (i) At every general meeting of the Club each

shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share of stock held

and may vote by proxy; (j) At every general meeting of the Club

each Ordinary member Present and in good standing shall be entitled

to one vote; Ordinary members shall not vote by proxy. Provided

that upon any question as to the sale, mortgage or other disposition

of the proPertv of the Club orasito borrowi.trg money on the credit

of the. Club or as to its liquidation or winding up Ordinary members

shall have no vote; .(k) The miles and regulations may Provide for

sPecial classes of members who shall have limited pflvileges and no

vote at general meetings of the Olub and (1)l The afTaire'of the Club
shall be managed by fiv,e director's each of whom shall hold at least
one share ef- stook in,,h3C„own'right and'shall also be a duly :qualified
OrdinarYmeMar,in good standin 
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tanager, Directors, Cogleittees

I other Persons with the assent,

0- aim and 
t.his c iarteri

the s Char shall hoe forfeited and

"tar-sailed ny Our Lieutenant
-Governor should the .,aid Club 

or

member there,of ,

he acquiescence, or 
permission

the said club, the Manager, Dirac Ors. 
Committees or Steward or member,:

.her or deal in, barter, traffic in, or 
sell or dispose of alcohol,

n the
qnirits

premises of

- pi ri tucus , rz

e saia, Club; Ano

intoxicatinm i

banter iS accent-se u.

conditig.n and 1.:=on thy to r^.•5 that any 
person so dealing in, barterim

2 trafficking in or selling, or disposing of are such spirituous, malt,

or intoxicating liquors upon the said ?remises whether he be a member,

servant or agent of the said ornot, shall be guilty of an

infraction of the Liquor License Act and of selling intoxicating licimci

without the necessary license authorising or Permitting such sale and

I shall incur the densities by the said ;Let Provided ancl shall 6'

otherwise amenable to all the provisions of the said The nor Licens

Act and the amendments` thereto, and a piea in such case t,such sale

or other violation of the said Act took blace bY a member of the said.

Club, to a member thereof,', or that the said Club' was duly incorporated,

Phan', pot be made, regeivefit'or-eptertainedf and the said Gind merkter

officer, servant,, or agent Shaii,ne astopped from oreferring the sgra.

n

And ':',e further ordsin these Presents are granted
he eenditiens that

ers,pe the 'Club hereby

e cancelled by

et. 'any officer; -&mployee
or member thereof or any other person or,persons with the assent,

incorporated stay

94i':Iteeteltreh*Z6,-,14p5o he

aeS4iiseeCCe:erpeMirsalen'-el the sai0 Club er 0f any Qffit,e.r„;.,

empl°vPe:t'iMeCther Peitidrti-0410W ce'- -ehrry on in  or upon
the Club or GA4j3LhF,G between,,,e.nv 15irsons
the Club be reported to nip a glace for 
aobling or 

tinlat'lful',Omin„..,,p7,775 
hettin2 tfr ge.meHI



is or is reported. to be 
Partially- or wholly entered 

into or carried out

upon such premises.

In Testimony whereof We 
have caused these Our 

Letters to be made Patent

and the Great Seal of 
Our Province of Ontario to 

be hereunto 
affixed,

Mitness: HIS HONOUR, JOHN MORISON 
GIBSONi-.A COLONSL IN. OUR ;MILITIA Oc

CANADA, &c., &c., &c., 
LIEUTENANT-GOVERNOR of Our PROVINCE 

OF ONTARIO

•

At Our Government House in Our 
CITY OF TORONTO in Our said Province

, -

this twenty first day of June in the. 
year of Our Lord one thousand

nine hundred and nine and -ih the- ninth year of Our Reign.

By Command

A. Armstrong

Assistant Provincial Secretary.
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THE FOLLOWING IS EXHIBIT "B"

TO THE AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID BALFOUR

SWORN BEEOR 61.11 ►/•Y OF FEBRUARY, 2018

Comission etc.



CERTIFIED COPY OF A SPECIAL RESOLUTION

FROM THE MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF

SHAREHOLDERS OF

OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED
(the "Corporation")

HELD MARCH 8, 2017

I, David Balfour, being the President of the Corporation, do hereby certify that the special
resolution attached hereto is an excerpt of a true copy of a resolution duly passed by the
shareholders of the Corporation at a special meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation held
March 8, 2017. I further certify that the attached resolution remains valid and in effect as of the
date set out below.

DATED as of the---2 day of March, 2017.

c231-,-C 
David Balfour, President



Schedule

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

OF THE SHAREHOLDERS

OF

OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED
(the "Corporation")

Re: Approval of sale of assets to LH Golf Group Inc.

r

BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1. Approval of the sale of all of the assets of OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB,
LIMITED to LH GROUP GOLF INC. pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement, the particulars
of which are summarized in the attached Schedule "A", and Authorization for the Directors to
take any and all actions required to ensure the orderly sale of the said assets, that in their
opinion, best serves OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED and its Shareholders.

PASSED at a special meeting of shareholders held on the 8" day of March, 2017.
r



r

r

r

THE FOLLOWING IS EXHIBIT "C"
n

TO THE AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID BALFOUR

SWORN BEFOREME

r

r

Y OF FEBRUARY, 2018
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the 23rd day of March, 2017;

BETWEEN

CARDINAL GOLF GROUP (CRAIGOWAN) INC., a corporation
incorporated under the laws of the Province Ontario

(the "Purchaser),

- and -

OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED, a corporation
incorporated under the laws of the Province Ontario

(the "Vendor)

WHEREAS Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited is the registered and beneficial owner of
certain lands being sold herein to the Purchaser;

AND WHEREAS Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited is the beneficial owner of the Oxford
Golf and Country Club, Limited lands and buildings;

AND WHEREAS for the purpose of this Agreement the term "Vendor shall be used with the
parties bearing in mind the foregoing recitals;

AND WHEREAS the Vendor carries on the business of Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited;

AND WHEREAS the Vendor desires to sell and the Purchaser desires to purchase certain of
the assets of the Vendor pertaining to that business upon and subject to the terms and
conditions set out in this Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements herein contained, the
parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1- INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith:

"Agreement" means this agreement, including its recitals and schedules, as amended from time to
time.

"Applicable Law" means

a) any applicable domestic or foreign law including any statute, subordinate legislation
or treaty, and

b) any applicable guideline, directive, rule, standard, requirement, policy, order,
judgment, injunction, award or decree of a Governmental Authority.
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"Assets" means the assets and undertaking referred to or described in Section 2.1.

"Balance Sheer means the balance sheet of the Vendor as at the Balance Sheet Date.

"Balance Sheet Date" means December 31, 2016.

"Business Dar means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in Ontario.

"Claims" means all losses, damages, expenses, liabilities (whether accrued, actual, contingent,
latent or otherwise), claims and demands of whatever nature or kind including all reasonable legal
fees and costs.

"Closing Date" means the 23rd day of March, 2017 or such other date as agreed to in writing
between the Vendor and the Purchaser.

"Environmental Law" means any Applicable Law relating to the environment including those
pertaining to

(i) reporting, licensing, permitting, investigating, remediating and cleaning up in connection with
any presence or Release, or the threat of the same, of Hazardous Substances, and

(ii) the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport,
handling and the like of Hazardous Substances, including those pertaining to occupational
health and safety.

"Financial Statements" means the notice to reader financial statements of the Vendor for the fiscal
year ending as of December 31, 2016 which are attached hereto at Schedule 5.

"Governmental Authority" means any domestic or foreign legislative, executive, judicial or
administrative body or person having or purporting to have jurisdiction in the relevant
circumstances.

"Hazardous Substance" means any substance or material that is prohibited, controlled or
regulated by any Governmental Authority pursuant to Environmental Laws including pollutants,
contaminants, dangerous goods or substances, toxic or hazardous substances or materials, wastes
(including solid non-hazardous wastes and subject wastes), petroleum and its derivatives and by-
products and other hydrocarbons, all as defined in or pursuant to any Environmental Law.

"Indemnitee" has the meaning set out in Section 7.1.

"Indemnitor" has the meaning set out in Section 7.1.

"Inventories" means all inventories of the Purchased Business which are of merchantable quality
and reasonably fit for the purpose intended including all food, beverages, and merchandise for
resale.

"Lands" means all freehold property and interests therein described in Schedule 1 attached hereto
including all rights of way, licences or rights of occupation, easements or other similar rights of the
Purchased Business in connection with such freehold property.
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"Permitted Encumbrances" means the liens, charges, encumbrances and/or rights of others set
out or referred to in Section 3.1 and Schedule 3.

"Permits" means all permits, consents, waivers, licences, certificates, approvals, authorizations,
registrations, franchises, rights, privileges, quotas and exemptions, or any item with a similar effect,
issued or granted by any person.

"Purchase Price" has the meaning set out in Section 2.3.

"Purchased Business" means the business of ownership of the Lands and all of the assets owned
by the Vendor that could be used in connection with the operation of a golf and country club and
banquet facility on the Lands, specifically including, but not limited to, the intellectual property rights
associated with the name "Craigowan Golf Club".

"Release" means any release or discharge of any Hazardous Substance including any discharge,
spray, injection, inoculation, abandonment, deposit, spillage, leakage, seepage, pouring, emission,
emptying, throwing, dumping, placing, exhausting, escape, leach, migration, dispersal, dispensing
or disposal.

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada).

"Time of Closing" means 2:00 p.m. (EST Time) on the Closing Date.

1.2 Headings

The division of this Agreement into Articles and Sections and the insertion of a table of contents and
headings are for convenience of reference only and do not affect the construction or interpretation
of this Agreement. The terms "hereof', "hereunder and similar expressions refer to this Agreement
and not to any particular Article, Section or other portion hereof. Unless something in the subject
matter or context is inconsistent therewith, references herein to Articles, Sections and Schedules
are to Articles and Sections of and Schedules to this Agreement.

1.3 Extended Meanings

In this Agreement words importing the singular number include the plural and vice versa, words
importing any gender include all genders and words importing persons include individuals,
corporations, limited and unlimited liability companies, general and limited partnerships,
associations, trusts, unincorporated organizations, joint ventures and Governmental Authorities.
The term "including" means "including without limiting the generality of the foregoing".

1.4 Statutory References

In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith or
unless otherwise herein provided, a reference to any statute is to that statute as now enacted or as
the same may from time to time be amended, re-enacted or replaced and includes any regulations
made thereunder.

1.5 Accounting Principles
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Wherever in this Agreement reference is made to a calculation to be made or an action to be taken
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, such reference will be deemed to be
to the generally accepted accounting principles from time to time approved by the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants, or any successor institute, applicable as at the date on which
such calculation or action is made or taken or required to be made or taken.

1.6 Currency

All references to currency herein are to lawful money of Canada.

1.7 Schedules

The following are the Schedules to this Agreement:

Schedule 1 Lands

Schedule 2 Assets to be sold and purchased

Schedule 3 Permitted Encumbrances

Schedule 4 - Contracts and Commitments

Schedule 5 Financial Statements

Schedule 6 Actions/Suits/Proceedings

Schedule 7 Permits

Schedule 8 Prepaid Expenses

ARTICLE 2- SALE AND PURCHASE

2.1 Assets to be Sold and Purchased

Upon and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Vendor will sell to the Purchaser and the
Purchaser will purchase from the Vendor as a going concern, as of and with effect from the opening
of business on the Closing Date, all of the right, title, benefit and interest of the Vendor in and to the
undertakings and all of the assets of the Purchased Business of every kind and description and
wheresoever situate, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, those assets listed in
Schedule 2 attached hereto. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the assets to be sold
and purchased under this Agreement include the following:

(a) the Lands, referred to in Schedule 1;

(b) all plant, buildings, structures, erections, improvements, appurtenances and fixtures
situate on or forming part of the Lands;

(c) all fixed machinery and fixed equipment situate on or forming part of the Lands;
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(d) all other machinery and equipment and all vehicles, tools, spare parts, handling
equipment, furniture, furnishings, computer hardware and peripheral equipment,
supplies and accessories of the Purchased Business, including the machinery and
equipment described in Schedule 2 including certain of such equipment and assets
which are leased by the Vendor which leases shall be assumed by the Purchaser as
set out at Schedule 2 (the "Leases");

(e) all Inventories and all chemicals and other materials used for maintenance of the
golf course, the buildings and the equipment owned by the Vendor as more
particularly set out on Schedule 2. With respect to inventory held for resale, the
Vendor shall provide particulars of the Inventories held by it as of the Closing Date
and the Purchaser shall purchase same from the Vendor for an amount equal to
Vendors cost of such Inventories which shall include the pro shop inventory which
the parties agree has a value of $4,780.00;

(f)

(g)

subject to consent or termination rights accruing to any third party, all licences,
registrations, permits and quotas required to canyon the Purchased Business in its
usual and ordinary course including the licences, registrations, permits and quotas
listed or described in Schedule 2;

the goodwill of the Purchased Business, including

(i) the exclusive right to the Purchaser to represent itself as carrying on the
Purchased Business in continuation of and in succession to the Vendor and
the right to use any words indicating that the Purchased Business is so
carried on, including the use if otherwise permitted by law of Craigowan Golf
Club, the domain names and the trade names, phone numbers and fax
numbers;

(ii) provided that same are reasonably available, all records of memberships,
member lists and supplier lists of or used in connection with the Purchased
Business provided that the Vendor shall be entitled to retain copies in any
format chosen by Vendor of same;

(h) all pre-paid expenses and deposits relating to the Purchased Businesses including
all pre-paid taxes and water rates, pre-paid advertising, all pre-paid purchases of
gas and hydro, all pre-paid lease payments, paid by the Vendor, if any. With respect
to pre-paid memberships (if any) and gift cards there shall be an adjustment on
closing as set out in Schedule 8;

(i)

(i)

all plans and specifications in the Vendors possession or under its control relating to
the plant, buildings, structures, erections, improvements, appurtenances and fixtures
situate on or forming part of the Lands including all such electrical, mechanical and
structural drawings related thereto as are in the possession or under the control of
the Vendor provided that it shall be expressly understood that the Vendor shall not
be required to obtain and new plans, specifications, or drawings; and

all personnel records, inspection records and other records, books, documents and
data bases recorded or stored by means of any device, including in electronic form,
relating to the Purchased Business, the Assets and those employees who are,
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pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, to be employed by the Purchaser as
are in the possession or under the control of the Vendor.

2.2 Assets Excluded

The following assets are not included in the Purchase Price:

(a) Cash on hand, bank accounts and investments;

(b) Accounts Receivable; and

(c) the business records of the Purchased Business not specifically being acquired and
transferred to the Purchser herein.

2.3 Purchase Price

The aggregate purchase price payable to the Vendor for the Assets (such amount being hereinafter
referred to as the "Purchase Price") will be Three Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars
($3,200,000.00), subject to adjustments (being the typical real estate adjustments and adjustments
in the Purchasers favour for all prepaid golf memberships for the 2017 golf season, prepaid
deposits on banquets and gift cards, as set out in Schedule 8).

2.3.1 Payment of Purchase Price

The Purchase Price shall be paid by the Purchaser to the Vendors Counsel via certified cheque or
wire transfer. The Purchase Price shall be held in escrow pending the Vendors completion of its
obligations contemplated by this Agreement including the delivery of vacant possession of the
Lands and buildings situated on the Lands. Upon the Vendors completion of its obligations
contemplated by this Agreement including the delivery of vacant possession of the Lands and
buildings situated on the Lands, Vendors counsel may release the Purchaser Price from escrow to
the Vendor, subject to any amounts that might accrue to the Purchaser on account of final
adjustments contemplated by this Agreement.

2.4 Further Allocation of Purchase Price

(a) The Purchase Price will be allocated among the classes of Assets as follows:

Land $1,550,000

Equipment $ 65,000

Furniture and fixtures $ 15,000

Building $1,570,000

(b) The Vendor and the Purchaser must each complete all tax returns, designations and
elections in a manner consistent with the final allocation and otherwise follow the
final allocation for all tax purposes on and subsequent to the Closing Date and not
take any position inconsistent with the final allocation. If such allocation is disputed
by any taxation or other Governmental Authority, the party receiving notice of such
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dispute will promptly notify the other party and the parties will use their reasonable
best efforts to sustain the final allocation. The parties will share information and
cooperate to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement to be properly, timely and consistently reported.

2.5 Elections

(a) The Vendor and the Purchaser will on or before the Time of Closing jointly execute
an election, in the prescribed form and containing the prescribed information, to
have subsection 167(1.1) of the Excise Tax Act (Canada) apply to the sale and
purchase of the Assets hereunder so that no tax is payable in respect of such sale
and purchase under Part IX of the Excise Tax Act (Canada). The Purchaser will file
such election with the Minister of National Revenue within the time prescribed by the
Excise Tax Act (Canada).

(b) The Vendor and the Purchaser acknowledge that the Vendor is transferring Assets
to the Purchaser with a value equal to the amount set out in Section 2.2 in
consideration for the Purchaser assuming prepaid obligations of the Vendor to
deliver goods or provide services in the future. The Vendor and the Purchaser will
execute and file, on a timely basis and using any prescribed form, a joint election
under subsection 20(24) of the Tax Act as to such assumption hereunder, and
prepare their respective tax returns in a manner consistent with such joint election.

2.6 Property Taxes

All property taxes imposed on or with respect to the Assets for the tax year that includes the ClosingDate will be prorated between the Vendor and the Purchaser as of the Closing Date. The Vendorwill be liable for the portion of such taxes based on the number of days in the year occurring prior tothe Closing Date, and the Purchaser will be liable for the portion of such taxes based on the numberof days in the year occurring on and after the Closing Date.

2.7 Assumption of Obligations and Liabilities

The Purchaser will assume, fulfil and perform the obligations and liabilities of the Vendor accruingafter the close of business on the day before the Closing Date under the contracts and othercommitments specifically described in Schedules 4 and 8 including but not limited to the assumptionof the Leases.

2.8 Existing Obligations and Liabilities

The Vendor will fulfill and perform the obligations and liabilities of the Vendor accruing before theclose of business on the day before the Closing Date under the contracts and other commitments ofthe Vendor relating to the Purchased Business specifically described in Schedules 4 and 8.

2.9 Obligations and Liabilities Not Assumed

Except as provided in this Agreement, the Purchaser does not assume and will not be liable for anyobligations or liabilities of the Vendor whatsoever including any taxes under the Tax Act or anyother taxes whatsoever that may be or become payable by the Vendor including any income or
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corporation taxes resulting from or arising as a consequence of the sale by the Vendor to the
Purchaser of the Assets hereunder.

2.10 Non-Assignable Contracts and Commitments

(a) The parties will cooperate and use reasonable efforts (other than the payment of
money or assumption of obligations) to obtain any third party consents or waivers
necessary to permit the assignment to, and assumption by, the Purchaser of all the
contracts and other commitments to be assigned to and assumed by the Purchaser
pursuant to this Agreement.

(b) Nothing in this Agreement will constitute an agreement to assign or an attempted
assignment of any contract or other commitment for which any requisite consent or
waiver to the assignment thereof has not been obtained. To the extent permitted by
Applicable Law, if any requisite consent or waiver has not been obtained on or prior
to Closing, the applicable contract or other commitment will be held by the Vendor in
trust for the benefit of the Purchaser and the Purchaser will perform the obligations
of the Vendor thereunder and be entitled to receive all money becoming due and
payable under and other benefits derived from the contract or other commitment
immediately after receipt by the Vendor.

2.11 Payment of Purchase Price

The full amount of the Purchase Price, subject to any adjustments, shall be paid as set out in
section 2.3.1 hereof, by certified cheque or wire transfer of immediately available funds to an
account specified by the Vendor.

ARTICLE 3- REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

3.1 Vendor's Representations and Warranties

In consideration of the Purchaser completing the purchase herein, the Vendor hereby represents
and warrants, to the best of its knowledge and belief and without inquiry, that:

Financial

(a) The Financial Statements relating to the Purchased Business, consisting of the
Balance Sheet and statements of income, retained earnings and changes in
financial position for the period ended on the Balance Sheet Date:

(i) are in accordance with the books and accounts of the Purchased Business
as at the Balance Sheet Date,

(ii) will be materially true and correct and present fairly the financial position of
the Purchased Business as at the Balance Sheet Date,

(iii) will have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles consistently applied, and
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(iv) will present fairly all of the assets and liabilities of Purchased Business as at
the Balance Sheet Date including all contingent liabilities relating to the
Purchased Business as at the Balance Sheet Date.

Condition of Assets

(v) The Vendor is in a legal position to sell the Assets with good and marketable
title to the Lands and good title to all the other Assets, free and clear of all
liens, charges, encumbrances and any other rights of others other than
Permitted Encumbrances or as otherwise disclosed herein.

(vi) All equipment and machinery purchased herein is being purchased on an
"as is" basis with no warranty as to its condition.

Contracts and Commitments

(vii) There are no contracts or commitments relating to the Purchased Business
outside the usual and ordinary course of the Purchased Business and there
are no contracts or commitments relating to the Purchased Business which
extend for a period of time longer than six (6) months or cannot be
terminated on no more than six (6) months notice to the other party or would
involve expenditures by the Vendor in the aggregate in excess of Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00), other than as disclosed, which shall include
but not be limited to all contracts and Leases set out at Schedule 4.

(viii) The Vendor is not in default or breach of any contract or commitment and
there exists no condition, event or act that, with the giving of notice or lapse
of time or both, would constitute such a default or breach, and all such
contracts and commitments are in good standing and in full force and effect
without amendment thereto and the Vendor is entitled to all benefits
thereunder.

(ix) To the best of the knowledge of the Vendor, there are no outstanding orders,
notices or similar requirements relating to the Purchased Business or to the
Assets issued by any Govemmental Authority and there are no matters
under discussion with any Governmental Authority relating to orders, notices
or similar requirements.

Employees

(x) The Vendor is not a party to or bound by any contract or commitment to pay
any management fee pertaining to the Purchased Business.

(xi) There is no collective bargaining agreement relating to the Purchased
Business.

(xii) No trade union, council of trade unions, employee bargaining agency or
affiliated bargaining agent:
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(A) holds bargaining rights with respect to any employees of the
Purchased Business by way of certification, interim certification,
voluntary recognition, designation or successor rights;

(B) has applied to be certified as the bargaining agent of any
employees of the Purchased Business; or

(C) has applied to have the Vendor declared a related employer or
successor employer pursuant to applicable labour legislation,

(xiii) Any and all amounts owing to employees of the Purchased Business,
excluding termination or severance pay, will be paid in full up to Closing
Time except those which are otherwise adjusted as between Vendor and
Purchaser.

Realty

(xiv) The operations of the Purchased Business in connection with the Lands are
not subject to any restriction or limitation, save and except any which are
registered on title to the lands, and are not in contravention of any law or
regulation or of any decree or order of any court or other body having
jurisdiction.

(xv) The Vendor has not received notice of any assessment or any capital
charges or levies assessed or proposed to be assessed against any of the
Assets by a Governmental Authority or that any Governmental Authority
intends to require the Vendor to pay for any future roads, utilities or services
relating to the Lands.

(xvi) The Lands are serviced by all private and public utility services that are
necessary for the operations of the Purchased Business on the Lands.

(xvii) No consent is required under the subdivision control provisions of the
Planning Act (Ontario) in order that a valid transfer of the Lands may be
delivered to the Purchaser at the Time of Closing.

(xviii) Where each of the Vendor and Purchaser retain a lawyer to complete the
Agreement of Purchase and Sale of the Lands, and where the transaction
will be completed by electronic registration pursuant to Part III of the Land
Registration Reform Act, R.S.O. 1990, Chapter L4 and the Electronic
Registration Act, S.O. 1991, Chapter 44, and any amendments thereto, the
Vendor and Purchaser acknowledge and agree that the exchange of closing
funds, non-registrable documents and other items (the "Requisite
Deliveries") and the release thereof to the Vendor and Purchaser will (a) not
occur at the same time as the registration of the transfer/deed (and any
other documents intended to be registered in connection with the completion
of this transaction) and (b) be subject to conditions whereby the lawyer(s)
receiving any of the Requisite Deliveries will be required to hold same in
trust and not release same except in accordance with the terms of a
document registration agreement between the said lawyers. The Vendor and
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Purchaser irrevocably instruct the said lawyers to be bound by the document
registration agreement which is recommended from time to time by the Law
Society of Upper Canada. Unless otherwise agreed to by the lawyers, such
exchange of the Requisite Deliveries will occur in the applicable Land Titles
Office or such other location agreeable to both lawyers.

(xix) Purchaser shall not call for the production of any title deed, abstract, survey
or other evidence of title to the property except such that are in the
possession or control of Vendor. If requested by Purchaser, Vendor will
deliver any sketch or survey of the property within Vendors control to
Purchaser as soon as possible and prior to the Requisition Date. If a
discharge of any Charge/Mortgage held by a corporation incorporated
pursuant to the Trust And Loan Companies Act (Canada), Chartered Bank,
Trust Company, Credit Union, Caisse Populaire or Insurance Company and
which is not to be assumed by Purchaser on completion, is not available in
registrable form on completion, Purchaser agrees to accept Vendors
lawyers personal undertaking to obtain, out of the closing funds, a discharge
in registrable form and to register same, or cause same to be registered, on
title within a reasonable period of time after completion, provided that on or
before completion Vendor shall provide to Purchaser a mortgage statement
prepared by the mortgagee setting out the balance required to obtain the
discharge, and, where a real-time electronic cleared funds transfer system is
not being used, a direction executed by Vendor directing payment to the
mortgagee of the amount required to obtain the discharge out of the balance
due on completion.

Environmental

000 The Vendor, to the best of its knowledge, has not been convicted of an
offence or been subjected to any judgment, injunction or other proceeding or
been fined or otherwise sentenced for non-compliance with any
Environmental Laws, and it has not settled any prosecution or other
proceeding short of conviction in connection therewith, in relation to the
Purchased Business or the Lands.

(xxi) The Vendor, to the best of its knowledge, has not received written notice, or
has knowledge after due inquiry of any facts that could give rise to any
notice, that the Vendor is potentially responsible for any remedial action
under any Environmental Law in connection with the Purchased Business.

Taxes

(xxii) The Purchaser is acquiring the ownership, possession or use under this
Agreement of all or substantially all of the property that can reasonably be
regarded as being necessary for the Purchaser to be capable of carrying on
the Purchased Business as a business within the meaning of section 167 of
the Excise Tax Act.

(xxiii) There are no liens for taxes upon the Assets, except for statutory liens for
current taxes not yet due.
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(xxiv) The Vendor is registered under Part IX of the Excise Tax Act (Canada).

(xxv) The Vendor is not a non-resident within the meaning of section 116 of the
Tax Act.

General

(xxvi) To the knowledge of the Vendor, there are no actions, suits or proceedings
(whether or not purportedly on behalf of the Vendor):

(A) pending or threatened against or adversely affecting, or which
could adversely affect, the Purchased Business or the Assets, or

(B) before or by any Governmental Authority.

except such actions, suits or proceedings as are disclose in Schedule 6.

3.2 Survival of Vendors Representations, Warranties and Covenants

The representations and warranties of the Vendor set forth in Section 3.1 will survive the completion
of the sale and purchase of the Assets herein provided for and, notwithstanding such completion,
will continue in full force and effect for the benefit of the Purchaser fora period of One (1) year from
the Closing Date (the "Limitation Period").

3.3 Purchasers Representations and Warranties

The Purchaser represents and warrants to the Vendor that:

(i) The Purchaser is a corporation duly incorporated, organized and subsisting
under the laws of the Province of Ontario.

(ii) The Purchaser has good and sufficient power, authority and right to enter
into and deliver this Agreement and to complete the transactions to be
completed by the Purchaser contemplated hereunder.

(iii) This Agreement constitutes a valid and legally binding obligation of the
Purchaser; enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with its terms
subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other laws
of general application limiting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally
and to the fact that specific performance is an equitable remedy available
only in the discretion of the court.

(iv) Neither the entering into nor the delivery of this Agreement nor the
completion of the transactions contemplated hereby by the Purchaser will
result in a violation of:

(A) any of the provisions of the constating documents or by-laws of the
Purchaser;
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(B) any agreement or other instrument to which the Purchaser is a
party or by which the Purchaser is bound; or

(C) any Applicable Law.

(v) The Purchaser is registered under Part IX of the Excise Tax Act (Canada).

3.4 Survival of Purchaser's Representations, Warranties and Covenants

(a) The representations and warranties of the Purchaser set forth in Section 3.3 will
survive the completion of the sale and purchase of the Assets herein provided for
and, notwithstanding such completion, will continue in full force and effect for the
benefit of the Vendor for a period of one (1) year from the Closing Date.

(b) The covenants of the Purchaser set forth in this Agreement, including the indemnity
at Section 4.1, will survive the completion of the sale and purchase of the Assets
herein provided for and, notwithstanding such completion, will continue in full force
and effect for the benefit of the Vendor in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement.

ARTICLE 4- COVENANTS

4.1 Covenants of the Vendor

(a) In addition to any other provision for indemnification by the Vendor contained in this
Agreement, the Vendor will jointly and severally indemnify and save harmless the
Purchaser and the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Purchaser from
and against:

(i) (A) all liabilities (whether accrued, actual, contingent or otherwise) and
Claims whatsoever of or in connection with or directly or indirectly
relating to the Purchased Business to the extent (i) existing, incurred
or accruing up to the close of business on the Closing Date, or (ii)
the result of actions or omissions taken or occurring or matters in
existence prior to the close of business on the Closing Date, other
than to the extent that such liabilities and Claims are specifically
disclosed in this Agreement; and

(B) all other liabilities and Claims directly or indirectly relating to the
Vendor, including all liabilities and Claims relating to income, sales,
excise or other taxes and for assessments or reassessments thereof;

except, in either case, any Claim for which indemnification is provided under Section
4.1(a)(i) and those Claims with respect to which the Purchaser is liable under this
Agreement including those accruing under the contracts and other commitments
referred to in Section 2.8 and those for taxes, duties and other charges; and

(ii) all Claims incurred by the Purchaser directly or indirectly resulting from any
breach of any covenant of the Vendor contained in this Agreement or, from
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any inaccuracy or misrepresentation in any representation or warranty set
forth in Section 3.1.

(b) The Vendor will ensure that the representations and warranties of the Vendor are
true and correct at the Time of Closing and that the conditions of closing for the
benefit of the Purchaser have been performed or complied with by the Time of
Closing.

(c) Notwithstanding any of the other provisions of this Agreement, the Vendor will not
be liable to the Purchaser or to the directors, officers, employees or agents of the
Purchaser for any Claim directly or indirectly resulting from:

(i) any inaccuracy or misrepresentation in any representation or warranty set
forth in Section 3.1 unless any claim or demand by the Purchaser against
the Vendor for which written notice with respect thereto is given to the
Vendor by the Purchaser within the Limitation Period;

(ii) any breach of any covenant of the Vendor contained in this Agreement or
from any inaccuracy or misrepresentation in any representation or warranty
set forth in Section 3.1 or resulting from any matter from and against which
the Purchaser and the directors, officers, employees and agents of the
Purchaser are indemnified hereunder

(A) unless and until the aggregate of all such Claims exceeds
$10,000.00, and then only to the extent that such aggregate
exceeds such amount, or

(B) in excess of the Purchase Price in the aggregate,

and provided that written notice of any Claim or demand arising out of the
foregoing must be delivered by the Purchaser to the Vendor within the
Limitation Period.

4.2 Covenants of the Purchaser

(a) In addition to any other provision for indemnification by the Purchaser contained in
this Agreement, the Purchaser will indemnify and save harmless the Vendor and the
directors, officers, employees and agents of the Vendor from and against

(i) all Claims incurred by the Vendor directly or indirectly resulting from any
breach of any covenant of the Purchaser contained in this Agreement or
from any inaccuracy or misrepresentation in any representation or warranty
set forth in Section 3.3

(ii) all Claims arising from the operation of the Purchased Business following the
Time of Closing including but not limited to any claims arising out of the the
Purchaser's operation of the business under the ACO, and

(iii) without limiting the generality of Section 4.2(a)(i), all Claims incurred by the
Vendor directly or indirectly as a result of the Vendor not collecting or
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remitting any tax under Part IX of the Excise Tax Act (Canada) in respect of
the sale of the Purchased Business, or because of the Purchaser's failure to
file the election referred to in Section 2.5(a) in a timely fashion.

(b) The Purchaser will ensure that the representations and warranties of the Purchaser
are true and correct at the Time of Closing and that the conditions of closing for the
benefit of the Vendor has been performed or complied with by the Time of Closing.

(c) Notwithstanding any of the other provisions of this Agreement, the Purchaser will not
be liable to the Vendor or to the directors, officers, employees or agents of the
Vendor for any Claim directly or indirectly resulting from:

(I) any inaccuracy or misrepresentation in any representation or warranty set
forth in Section 3.3 unless any claim or demand by the Vendor against the
Purchaser with respect thereto is given to the Purchaser by the Vendor
within the time period referred to in Section 3.3, or

(ii) any breach of any covenant of the Purchaser contained in this Agreement or
from any inaccuracy or misrepresentation in any representation or warranty
set forth in Section 3.3 or resulting from any matter from and against which
the Vendor and the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Vendor
is indemnified hereunder

(A) unless and until the aggregate of all such Claims exceeds
$10,000.00, and then only to the extent that such aggregate
exceeds such amount, or

(B) in excess of the Purchase Price in the aggregate,

4.3 Employees

(a) The Purchaser agrees on Closing to offer employment to the full time employees of
the Vendor on the same terms under which they are currently employed as set out
at Schedule 4 including recognizing employee tenure/past service.

4.4 Cooperation on Tax Matters

The Vendor and the Purchaser will furnish or cause to be furnished to each other, each at its
own expense, as promptly as practicable, such information and assistance, and provide additional
information and explanations of any material provided, relating to the Assets as is reasonably
necessary for the filing of any tax returns, for the preparation of any audit, and for the prosecution or
defence of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any adjustment or proposed adjustment with
respect to taxes.

ARTICLE 5- CONDITIONS

5.1 Conditions for the Benefit of the Purchaser
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(a) The sale by the Vendor and the purchase by the Purchaser of the Assets is subject
to the following conditions, which are for the exclusive benefit of the Purchaser and
which are to be performed or complied with at or prior to the Time of Closing:

(i) the representations and warranties of the Vendor set forth in Section 3.1 will,
subject to such additions and/or deletions occurring in the usual and ordinary
course of the Purchased Business, be true and correct at the Time of
Closing with the same force and effect as if made at and as of such time;

(ii) the Vendor will have performed or complied with all of the terms, covenants
and conditions of this Agreement to be performed or complied with by the
Vendor at or prior to the Time of Closing;

(iii) the Purchaser will be furnished with such certificates or other instruments
(including instruments of conveyance with respect to the Assets) of the
Vendor or of officers of the Vendor as the Purchaser or the Purchasers
counsel may reasonably think necessary in order to establish that the terms,
covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement to have been
performed or complied with by the Vendor at or prior to the Time of Closing
have been performed or complied with and that the representations and
warranties of the Vendor herein given are true and correct at the Time of
Closing;

(iv) the subdivision control provisions of the Planning Act (Ontario) will have
been complied with and the Purchaser will have been furnished with
evidence satisfactory to it that the sale and purchase of the Lands is in
compliance with such provisions;

(v) there will have been obtained from all appropriate federal, provincial,
municipal or other govemmental or administrative bodies such approvals or
consents as are required to permit the change of ownership of the Assets
contemplated hereby and to permit the Purchased Business to be carried on
by the Purchaser as now conducted;

(vi) no action or proceeding in Canada will be pending or threatened by any
person, government, governmental authority, regulatory body or agency to
enjoin, restrict or prohibit:

(A) the sale and purchase of the Assets contemplated hereby or

(B) the right of the Purchaser to conduct the Purchased Business or its
intended business of operating a golf course country club and
banquet facility on the Lands;

(vii) no material damage by fire or other hazard to the Assets will have occurred
from the date hereof to the Time of Closing;

(viii) the Purchaser will have been furnished with evidence satisfactory to it that
the sale and purchase of the Assets is in compliance with the provisions of
the Bulk Sales Act,
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(ix) all necessary steps and proceedings will have been taken to permit the
Assets to be duly and regularly transferred to and registered in the name of
the Purchaser free and clear of all liens, charges and encumbrances
including obtaining the consents to the assignments of the contracts or other
commitments;

(x) if applicable, the Vendor will have delivered to the Purchaser a certificate
issued by the Ministry of Finance of Ontario pursuant to section 6 of the
Retail Sales Tax Act which indicates that the Vendor has paid all taxes
collectable or payable under the Act up to the Closing Date or has entered
into an arrangement satisfactory to the said Minister for the payment of such
taxes;

(xi) the Vendor shall have paid all amounts owing to the Employees excluding
severance and termination pay up to the Time of Closing except those
amounts which the parties may adjust for on Closing;

(xii) the form and legality of all matters incidental to the sale by the Vendor and
the purchase by the Purchaser of the Assets will be subject to the approval
of the Purchasers counsel; and

(xiii) The Purchaser agrees to apply for a liquor sales license, at its sole cost and
expense, forthwith and the Vendor shall supply and provide to the Purchaser
any consent, information, or documentation reasonably necessary to submit
the application, including the production of plans for the premises, if any, in
form and content suitable for completing the application required by the
Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario (the "AGCO"). The Purchaser
covenants to diligently pursue the liquor sales licence application and to
execute such documentation as necessary, including any personal
indemnities in favour of the Vendor or the AGCO, as may be reasonably
requested by either of them, to affect the transfer herein. In the event that
such a new liquor sales licence has not been issued by the Completion
Date, the Completion Date shall not be postponed and the Purchaser will
operate under an Authorization to Contract Out/Carry-Over Agreement
("ACO"), if available.

(b) In case any term or covenant of the Vendor or condition to be performed or
complied with for the benefit of the Purchaser at or prior to the Time of Closing has
not been performed or complied with at or prior to the Time of Closing, the
Purchaser, without limiting any other right that the Purchaser has, may at its sole
option either

(i) rescind this Agreement by notice to the Vendor, and in such event the
Purchaser will be released from all obligations hereunder or

(ii) waive compliance with any such term, covenant or condition in whole or in
part on such terms as may be agreed upon without prejudice to any of its
rights of rescission in the event of non-performance of any other term,
covenant or condition in whole or in part;
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and, if the Purchaser rescinds this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.1 (b)(i), the Vendor will also be
released from all obligations hereunder unless the term, covenant or condition for which the
Purchaser has rescinded this Agreement was one that the Vendor has covenanted, pursuant to
Section 4.1(b), to ensure had been performed or complied with, in which event the Vendor will be
liable to the Purchaser for any Claims incurred by the Purchaser directly or indirectly as a result of
such breach.

5.2 Conditions for the Benefit of the Vendor

(a) The sale by the Vendor and the purchase by the Purchaser of the Assets is subject
to the following conditions, which are for the exclusive benefit of the Vendor and
which are to be performed or complied with at or prior to the Time of Closing:

(i) the representations and warranties of the Purchaser set forth in Section 3.3
will be true and correct at the Time of Closing with the same force and effect
as if made at and as of such time;

(ii) the Purchaser will have performed or complied with all of the terms,
covenants and conditions of this Agreement to be performed or complied
with by the Purchaser at or prior to the Time of Closing;

(iii) the Vendor will be furnished with such certificates or other instruments of the
Purchaser or of officers of the Purchaser as the Vendor or the Vendor's
counsel may reasonably think necessary in order to establish that the terms,
covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement to have been
performed or complied with by the Purchaser at or prior to the Time of
Closing have been performed or complied with and that the representations
and warranties of the Purchaser herein given are true and correct at the
Time of Closing.

(iv) the Purchaser assumes all Leases as referred to in Schedule 4.

(b) In case any term or covenant of the Purchaser or condition to be performed or
complied with for the benefit of the Vendor at or prior to the Time of Closing has not
been performed or complied with at or prior to the Time of Closing, the Vendor,
without limiting any other right that the Vendor has, may at their sole option either:

(i) rescind this Agreement by notice to the Purchaser, and in such event the
Vendor will be released from all obligations hereunder or

(ii) waive compliance with any such term, covenant or condition in whole or in
part on such terms as may be agreed upon without prejudice to any of its
rights of rescission in the event of non-performance of any other term,
covenant or condition in whole or in part

and, if the Vendor rescind this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.2(b)(i), the Purchaser will also be
released from all obligations hereunder unless the term, covenant or condition for which the Vendor
has rescinded this Agreement was one that the Purchaser had covenanted, pursuant to Section
4.2(b), to ensure had been performed or complied with, in which event the Purchaser will be liable
to the Vendor for any Claims incurred by the Vendor directly or indirectly as a result of such breach.
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ARTICLE 6- CLOSING ARRANGEMENTS

6.1 Closing

The sale and purchase of the Assets will be completed at the Time of Closing at theoffices of Siskinds LLP or at such other place as the parties may otherwise agree.

6.2 Examination of Records and Assets

(a) The Vendor agrees to provide, if in the possession of the Vendor:

Any Plan of Survey prepared by an Ontario Land Surveyor, with respect to
the Lands only in the possession or control of the Vendor;

(ii) Copies of all previous and current studies, draft plans and working drawings
done with respect to the properties in the Vendor's possession;

(iii) Copies of all previous and current agreements respecting the Lands in the
Vendor's possession;

(iv) Copies of all applications and consents (whether lapsed or not) for plans of
subdivision, re-zoning or other development agreements respecting the
properties, and any other correspondences with the municipality or other
governmental authority respecting the Lands in the Vendor's possession;

(v) Copies of all previous or current draft plans of subdivision respecting the
properties in the Vendor's possession;

(vi) Copies of all soil and engineers' reports respecting the property / including
all Phase I and Phase II reports in the Vendor's possession;

(vii) Copies of all lease agreements respecting the Lands and all amendments
thereto, whether lapsed or not, in the Vendor's possession; and

(viii) Any and all other relevant documents, including but not limited to consulting
engineers' reports, architects' control, and surveyors' instructions respecting
the Lands in the Vendor's possession;

(b) At the Time of Closing the Vendor will deliver to the Purchaser all of the documentsreferred to in Section 2.1(g)(ii). The Purchaser will preserve any business recordsso delivered for a period of six years from the Closing Date, or for such other periodas is required by any Applicable Law, and will permit the Vendor and theirauthorized representatives reasonable access thereto in connection with the affairsof the Vendor, but the Purchaser will not be responsible or liable to the Vendor for oras a result of any loss or destruction of or damage to any such documents.

(c) Both prior to the Closing Date and, if the sale and purchase of the Assets hereunderfails to occur for whatever reason, thereafter the Purchaser will not disclose toanyone or use for its own or for any purpose other than the purpose contemplatedby this Agreement any confidential information concerning the Vendor or the
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Purchased Business obtained by the Purchaser pursuant hereto, will hold all such
information in the strictest confidence except for any confidential information that is
or becomes public known through no fault of the Vendor or is required to be
disclosed by law, and, if the sale and purchase of the Assets hereunder fails to
occur for whatever reason, will return all documents, records and all other
information or data relating to the Vendor or to the Purchased Business which the
Purchaser obtained pursuant to this Agreement.

(d) From and after the Closing Date the Vendor will not disclose to anyone or use for
any purpose any confidential information concerning the Purchased Business
purchased by the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement and will hold all such
information in the strictest confidence except for any confidential information that is
or becomes publicly known through no fault of the Vendor or is required to be
disclosed by law.

6.3 Risk of Loss

(a) Until the Time of Closing the Assets will remain at the risk of the Vendor. The
Vendor will maintain all existing risk insurance in respect of loss or damage to or any
other casualty in respect of the Assets which provides for loss settlement on a
replacement cost basis if the Assets are repaired or replaced and on an actual cash
value basis if the Assets are not repaired or replaced. In the event of any loss,
damage or claim in respect of any risk for which insurance is to be carried as
aforesaid arising before the Time of Closing the Purchaser, as an additional
condition of closing, will be entitled to be satisfied that the insurers have accepted
the claim of the Vendor for payment in accordance with the terms of the policies. If
any destruction or damage occurs to the Assets on or before the Time of Closing or
if any or all of the Assets are appropriated, expropriated or seized by governmental
or other lawful authority on or before the Time of Closing, the Vendor will forthwith
give notice thereof to the Purchaser and the Purchaser will have the option,
exercisable by notice to the Vendor on or before the Time of Closing

(i) to reduce the Purchase Price by an amount equal to the proceeds of
insurance (and, if any such policy provided for a deductible amount, by an
amount equal to such deductible amount) or compensation for destruction or
damage or appropriation, expropriation or seizure and business interruption
with respect thereto (in this Section 6.3 referred to as the "Proceeds"), and
to complete the purchase or

(ii) to complete the purchase without reduction of the Purchase Price, in which
event all Proceeds will be payable to the Purchaser and all right and claim of
the Vendor to any such amounts not paid by the Closing Date will be
assigned to the Purchaser.

(b) If the Purchaser elects to reduce the Purchase Price pursuant to Section 6.3(a), the
Vendor and the Purchaser acting reasonably will at the Time of Closing determine
the amount of the reduction to the extent that it is then determinable and will
undertake to adjust such amount after the Closing Date, if necessary.
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ARTICLE 7- GENERAL

7.1 Indemnification

The obligations of the Vendor and the Purchaser under this Agreement to indemnify and saveharmless the other and its directors, officers, employees and agents are, in the case of any Claimby a third party, conditional upon the party that is otherwise entitled to be indemnified (the"Indemnitee") giving prompt notice to the other (the "Indemnitor") of such Claim and permitting theIndemnitor at its expense to participate in all negotiations relating thereto, to assume the defence ofany action or proceeding relating thereto and to determine (with the Indemnitee, acting reasonably)whether any settlement should be made with respect thereto; provided that if, in the sole opinion ofthe lndemnitee, the interests of the Indemnitee are different from those of the Indemnitor inconnection with such Claim, the lndemnitee will have the right, at the Indemnitors expense, todefend its own interests provided that any settlement of such Claim is on terms and conditionsapproved by the lndemnitor, acting reasonably. If the lndemnitor does not defend any Claim, thelndemnitee will have the right to do so on its own behalf and on behalf of the Indemnitor at theexpense of the Indemnitor.

7.2 Further Assurances

Each of the Vendor and the Purchaser will from time to time execute and deliver all such furtherdocuments and instruments and do all acts and things as the other party may, either before or afterthe Closing Date, reasonably require to effectively carry out or better evidence or perfect the fullintent and meaning of this Agreement.

7.3 Time of the Essence

Time is of the essence of this Agreement.

7.4 Fees and Commissions

Each of the Vendor and the Purchaser will pay its respective legal and accounting costs andexpenses incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement andall documents and instruments executed pursuant to this Agreement and any other costs andexpenses whatsoever and howsoever incurred and will indemnify and save harmless the other fromand against any Claim for any brokers, finder's or placement fee or commission alleged to havebeen incurred as a result of any action by it in connection with the transactions under thisAgreement. For clarity, the Vendor shall be responsible for the payment of all realty commissions.

7.5 Public Announcements

Except as required by law, no public announcement or press release concerning the sale andpurchase of the Assets may be made by the Vendor or the Purchaser without the prior consent andjoint approval of the Vendor and the Purchaser.

7.6 Benefit of the Agreement

This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the respective heirs, executors,administrators, other legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto.
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7.7 Entire Agreement

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to thesubject matter hereof and cancels and supersedes any prior understandings and agreementsbetween the parties hereto with respect thereto. There are no representations, warranties, terms,conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements, express, implied or statutory, between the partiesother than as expressly set forth in this Agreement.

7.8 Amendments and Waivers

No amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless set forth in writing and dulyexecuted by both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any breach of any provision of this Agreementwill be effective or binding unless made in writing and signed by the party purporting to give thesame and, unless otherwise provided, will be limited to the specific breach waived.

7.9 Assignment

This Agreement may not be assigned by the Vendor without the written consent of the Purchaserbut may be assigned by the Purchaser without the consent of the Vendor to an Affiliate of thePurchaser, as determined by the provisions of the Business Corporations Act, provided that suchAffiliate enters into a written agreement with the Vendor to be bound by the provisions of thisAgreement in all respects and to the same extent as the Purchaser is bound and provided that thePurchaser will continue to be bound by all the obligations hereunder as if such assignment had notoccurred and perform such obligations to the extent that such Affiliate fails to do so.

7.10 Notices

Any demand, notice or other communication to be given in connection with this Agreement must begiven in writing and will be given by personal delivery-, by registered mail or by electronic means ofcommunication addressed to the recipient as follows:

To the Vendor:

C/o: David D. Lyons dlyons@lerners.ca

To the Purchaser:

Email: Brent Holmes brentholmes@cardinalgolfclub.com

Copy to: Barry C. Cleaver barry.cleaver@siskinds.com

or to such other street address, individual or electronic communication number or address as maybe designated by notice given by either party to the other. Any demand, notice or othercommunication given by personal delivery will be conclusively deemed to have been given on theday of actual delivery thereof and, if given by registered mail, on the Business Day following thedeposit thereof in the mail and, if given by electronic communication, on the day of transmittalthereof if given during the normal business hours of the recipient and on the Business Day duringwhich such normal business hours next occur if not given during such hours on any day.
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7.11 Remedies Cumulative

The right and remedies of the parties under this Agreement are cumulative and are in addition to,
and not in substitution for, any other rights and remedies available at law or in equity or otherwise.
No single or partial exercise by a party of any right or remedy precludes or otherwise affects the
exercise of any other right or remedy to which that party may be entitled.

7.12 Governing Law

This Agreement is governed by and will be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of
Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein.

7.13 Attornment

For the purpose of all legal proceedings this Agreement will be deemed to have been performed in
the Province of Ontario and the courts of the Province of Ontario will have jurisdiction to entertain
any action arising under this Agreement. The Vendor and the Purchaser each attorn to the
jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario.

7.14 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed tobe an original and all of which taken together will be deemed to constitute one and the sameinstrument.

7.15 Facsimiles

Delivery of an executed signature page to this Agreement by any party by electronic transmissionwill be as effective as delivery of a manually executed copy of this Agreement by such party.

[SIGNING PAGE TO FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement.

SIGNED SEALED AND DELIVERED
IN THE PRESENCE OF

SIGNED SEALED AND DELIVERED
IN THE PRESENCE OF

CARDINAL GOLF GROUP (CRAIGOWAN) INC.

Per:

Name:

Title:

I have the authority to bind the corporation

OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

Per: ff)",",-,-

Name: D
Title:

Per:

64 Fa "

ENT-

e: -re, Lb ,1 ScA t-r....G

itle: b 1 1:3.Ec.-11:32

L—

We have the authority to bind the corporation.
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SCHEDULE 1

LANDS

OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED
PIN: 00242-0065
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: PART LOT 14-15 CONCESSION 12 EAST ZORRA AS IN 482024;
EAST ZORRA-TAVISTOCK
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SCHEDULE 2

ASSETS TO BE SOLD AND PURCHASED

All assets contained within the buildings at the Property except as specifically excluded by this
Agreement at section 2.2 and including but not limited to those assets set out on the attached.
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Equipment

Express Dual 3000Mc Spin Grinder
Anglemaster 3000Mc Spin Grinder
Toro 3150 Riding Greensmower
Toro 3150 Riding Greensmower
Stihl M5461R Chainsaw
Toro 5410-D Riding Fairway Mower
Toro 5410-D Riding Fairway Mower
Land Pride 4011 All Flex Tow Behind Rotary Mower
Toro Flex 21 Walking Greensmower
John Deere 313 Skid Steer
Toro 5040 Sand Pro
Stihl Backpack Blower
Stihl Backpack Blower
Stihl Hedge Trimmer Hs45
Toro 3500-D Groundsmaster Sidewinder
Toro 3150 Riding Greensmower (Tees)
Toro 3150 Riding Greensmower (Collars)
Ryan Cushman Utility Truckster/Dump Box
Truck Mount Vicon Fertilizer Spreader
Toro Vibratory Rollers (2 Sets) on Toro 3150's
Gandy Drop Seeder
Log Splitter
Salsco Greens Roller
Agri-Metal 23Hp Tow Behind Blower
Ez-Go Golf Cart With Carrying Box
Ez-Go Golf Cart With Carrying Box
Toro 3150 Riding Greensmower (Rollers)
Toro 3150 Riding Greensmower (Rollers)
Ez-Go Golf Cart With Carrying Box
Kubota L5030 Diesel Tractor
Stihl 260 Chainsaw
Land Pride 4011 All Flex Tow Behind Rotary Mower
Turfco Widespin 1530 Topdresser
Stihl Fs 38 String Trimmer
Ford Pick Up Truck (used by Superintendent)
John Deere Gator
Meteor Snow Blower
Stihl Weedeater
Drag Brush Unit
(3) Toro Verticutter Units on 3100 Greenmower
Stihl Hand Blower
Yamaha Cart W Rear Facing Seat (Used)
Ez-Go Golf Cart With Carrying Box
Ryan Ga-60 Fairway Aerator
Stihl Pole Saw Ht 75
Scotts R-8A Walk Behind Fertilizer Spreader
Kubota L5030 Diesel Tractor
Ryan Cushman Utility Truckster/Dump Box
Ez-Go Golf Cart With Carrying Box
Smithco 225 Gal. Sprayer (on Cushman above)
John Deere Greens Aerator
Dump Trailer
Toro 5400-D Reelmaster (Intermediate Rough)
Vermeer 9" Wood Chipper
Toro Gm 3100 Riding Greensmower (has verticutters)
Toro 223-D Outfront Rotary Rough Mower
Toro Gm 1000 Walking Greensmower
Stihl 038 Magnum Chainsaw
Bannerman Aerway Fairway Slit Aerifier



l oro Multi-Pro 1100 Sprayer
John Deere 1070 35Hp Diesel Tractor
Toro Greens Aerator
Ryan Junior 12" Sod Cutter
Honda Hr 173 Rotary Push Mower
Walco W-799 Snow Scraper Blade
Little Wonder Walk Behind Blower
Kubota L2550 28Hp Diesel Tractor
(45) Club Car Precedent 12 Excel Golf Carts
Carryall Beverage Cart
Ez-Go Golf Cart With Robe Reel



Oxford Golf and County Club, Limited
Maintenance Parts
January 12, 2017

Part Description and No. Related Equipment Qty.
Max Edge Bedknife #108- 9095 TORO 5410-D 2
Standard Bedknife #108- 9096 TORO 5410-D 10
Bedknife Screws 5/8" R105476 TORO 5410-D 100
Fan Belt #98- 9676 TORO 5410-D 1
Engine Oil Filter 108-3841 TORO 5410-D 4
Reel Motor #112 - 9200 TORO 5410-D 1
Light Switch #95- 8999 TORO 5410-D 1
Oil Drain Plug And Gasket # TORO 5410-D 1
Rr Brush Belt 110-1746 TORO 5410-D 4
Rear Roller Spacers #119- 0626 TORO 5410- D 10
3" Rear Roller #114- 5412 TORO 5410- D 1
Lift Cylinder — Used (Rebuilt) TORO 5410-D 1
Front Lift Arm Pivot Pin #107- 2077 TORO 5410-D 2
Reel Motor Seal Kit #112- 9104 TORO 5410-D 1
Hydraulic Oil Filter - Small #86- 3010 TORO 5410-D 2
Rear Wheel Bearing Nut #3220-7 TORO 5410- D 1
Dust Cap 241- 119 TORO 5410-D 3
Snapper Pin #107-7400 TORO 5410-D 3
Solenoid Valve Nut TORO 5410- D 1
Counter-Balance Spring Rear #5-0743 TORO 5400-D — I.R. 1
Fuel Filter 98- 7612C TORO 5400-D 2
Water/Fuel Seperator #98-9764 TORO 5400-D 4
Differential Filter #86- 3010 Toro # TORO 5400-D 1
Air Filter 108- 3810 TORO 5400-D 1
Lift Cylinder #93- 9310 TORO 5400-D 1
Friction Washer —Throttle #66- 2920 TORO 5400-D 2
Shear Pins — Reel Frame Pivot #32121- 122 TORO 5400-D 20
Spark Plugs Ngk Fr2A- D EZ-GO CARTS 2006 & UP 7
Fuel Filter EZ-GO CARTS 2
Brake Drum EZ-GO CARTS 1
Brake Shoes #4266 EZ-GO CARTS 1
Ignition Switch EZ-GO CARTS 1
Grinding Stone A6505 EXPRESS DUAL 3000 MC 1
Hydraulic Reel Motor - Gm3150 & 5410-D TORO GM 3150 1
Narrow Wiehle Roller #115-7360 TORO GM 3150 1
Wiehle Roller Repair Kit TORO GM 3150 1
Ball Joint - Neutral Cable #2411- 38 TORO GM 3150 2
Relay TORO GM 3150 2
Ignition Switch TORO GM 3150 1
Engine Oil Filter - 107- 7817 - Toro # TORO GM 3150 8
Tank — Bolt, Washer And Bushing TORO GM 3150 2
Pull Frame R.H. R92- 9177 TORO GM 3150 1
Ball Joint Receiver 99-1460 TORO GM 3150 1
Ball Stud 94-2958 TORO GM 3150 2
Spark Plugs Rcl4Yc Champion TORO GM 3150 6
Bedknife Micro R93-4262 greens reels 4
Roller Bearing — 2008 Reels TORO GM 3150 2
Torsion Spring TORO GM 3150 2
Pull Arm Bushing #3- 1506 TORO GM 3150 8
Pivot Pin Bushing #520526 TORO GM 3150 5
Pull Arm #92- 0585 R.S. TORO GM 3150 1
Engine Oil Drain Plug #690946 TORO GM 3150 4
Bedbar Adjuster #99- 2096 TORO GM 3150 2
Shaft Adjuster #106- 5363 TORO GM 3150 2
Brake Shoe #70- 9840 TORO GM 3150 4
Engine Oil Filter #103887901 CLUBCAR BEV CART 2
Air Filter #1015426 CLUBCAR BEV CART 1
Spark Plug - Ngk Bpr2Es CLUBCAR BEV CART 2
Fuel Filter #102003201 CLUBCAR BEV CART 1
Rear Axle U- Bolt CLUBCAR BEV CART 3
Wear Plate Bracket (Used) TORO AERATOR 2
Wear Plate L And R TORO AERATOR 2
3/8" Hollow R108-9128 TORO AERATOR 70
1/2" Hollow - Carbide R&R#R201447 TORO AERATOR 12
5/8" Solid - 7/8" Mount RYAN AERATOR 22
5/8" Hollow - 7/8" Mount RYAN AERATOR 22
Tine Holder 3/8" Mount #Amt 1832 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 1
3/8" Solid R2014013/4" Mount JOHN DEERE AERATOR 48
3/8" Hollow #R201648 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 48
1/4" Solid 3/8" Mount R201421 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 1



1/4" Hollow Carbide Tip Toro#108- 9120 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 48

1/2" Hollow Carbide 3/4" Mount R201447 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 56
3/8" Solid Tines R&R Rtcu17346 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 84
3/8" Hollow Carbide 3/4" Mount R201445 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 47
3/8" Side Eject Carbide Tip #R201446 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 35
1/2" Solid 3/4" Mount R201402 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 23
3/8" Hollow 3/4" Mount JOHN DEERE AERATOR 13
1/2" Hollow JOHN DEERE AERATOR 16
1/2" Hollow Carbide Tip- Side Eject R201448 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 48
3/8" Hollow 3/4" Mount R201588 JOHN DEERE AERATOR 15
Ignition Switch #27- 2360 TORO 223-D 1
Pivot Pin — Deck #98- 2348 TORO 223-D 1
Engine Oil Filter #108- 3841 TORO 223-D 1
Deck Belt #92- 5588 TORO 223-D 2
Screw-Deck Wheel #325-22 TORO 223-D 4
Deck Wheel Bearing #83-4740 TORO 223-D 1
Fan Belt #92 - 8876 TORO 223-D 1
Spacers-Deck 92-8866 TORO 223-D 6
Combo Blade #108- 9026- 03 TORO 3500-D 3
Roller — Rear #112- 5265 TORO 3500-D 1

Screw - Hoc 3234- 24 TORO 3500-D 4
Spacer - Hoc 105- 9226 TORO 3500-D 4
R.R. Mounting Brackets (Used) TORO 3500-D 2
Hydraulic Hose ? TORO 3500-D 1
Deck Switch #95- 8999 TORO 3500-D 1
Turf Tire 20X12.00 - 10 Car Lisle TORO 3500-D 1
Turf Tire 20X12.00 - 10 On Rims (Used) TORO 3500-D 2

Mulching Ring Mounting Screws TORO 3500-D 6
Rake Tooth 3 3/8" R88- 8450 SANDPRO 5040 2
Spark Plugs - Champion Rcl4Yc SANDPRO 5040 2
Clutch Belts - Set 92- 9218 TORO WALKER 1000 1
Drive Belt - Main 65- 9080 TORO WALKER 1000 1
Belt -Reel Drive 65- 6200 TORO WALKER 1000 1

Drum Drive Belt 65-6210 TORO WALKER 1000 2

Clutch Throw-Out Bearing KUBOTA L2550 1

Front Engine Seal KUBOTA L2550 1

Front Axel Seal KUBOTA L2550 1

Engine Oil Filter #Hh16432430 KUBOTA L5030 2
Glow - Relay KUBOTA L5030 1

Hydraulic Oil Filter - Hhta037710 KUBOTA L5030 1
P.T.O. Shaft #T108023704 KUBOTA L5030 1

Oil Seal #3534025360 KUBOTA L5030 1

Collar,Seal #3534025350 KUBOTA L5030 1
Slinger #3824025370 KUBOTA L5030 1
Ball Bearing #Td06023730 KUBOTA L5030 1
Bearing Case #T108023723 KUBOTA L5030 1

Nut #3534025320 KUBOTA L5030 1
Cir-Clip- Coupler #38430-2554-0 KUBOTA L5030 1
Engine Oil Filter JD TRACTOR 3
Champion Rc12Yc TORO SPRAYER 2
Tee Jet IT ' Nozzle Holder TORO SPRAYER 2
Clamp Assy. #40999 TORO SPRAYER 7
Clutch Cable #41.744 TORO SPRAYER 1
Directo Valve Repair Kit SMITHCO SPRAYER 1
Viton Repair Kit SMITHCO SPRAYER 2
Clamps — Foamer Mount #901674 SMITHCO SPRAYER 4
Single Nozzle Holder (In-Line) SMITHCO SPRAYER 4
Single Nozzle Holder (Ends) SMITHCO SPRAYER 2
Engine Oil Filter Tx-2701908 CUSHMAN 2011 - NEW 4
Hydraulic Oil Filter #885249 CUSHMAN 2011 - NEW 1
Ignition Switch #837295 CUSHMAN 2011 - NEW 1
Front Tire - 20X10.00 - 10 Rib CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Power Steering Belt #4115404 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Ignition Coil Tx- 119619 On Spark Plug CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Ignition Switch #837295 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Engine Oil Filter #2701908 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Spark Plug Dcpr7E-Ngk CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 8
Inner Tube 20X8.00/10.00 — 10 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Lower Ball Joint F.R. #841429 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Rear Axle Retainer #893519 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Rear Axle Oil Seal #838539 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Tappet Shims CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 3
Engine Oil Drain Plug #2701915 CUSHMAN 627 (2002) 1
Spark Plug Rj19Lm SOD CUTTER 3
Drive Belt A-62 SOD CUTTER 1



Spark Plug Bpmr7A STIHL WEEDEATER 9
Trimmer String .095" - Stihl STIHL WEEDEATER 1
Spark Plugs Bpmr4A STIHL CHAINSAWS 13
Chain 28" #33Rs91E STIHL MS491 SAW 2
Blade Bolts LAND PRIDE 3
Ec Yoke - Deck P.T.O. #1014013 LANDPRIDE 2007 1
Main P.T.O. Shaft — E.C. LANDPRIDE 2007 1
6" Idler Pulley 808- 129C LANDPRIDE 1
Pulley For Blade Spindle LAND PRIDE 1
Rim & 'Tire — Deck — Used LAND PRIDE 1
Ass.Spacers LAND PRIDE 2
Idler Pulley Spring LAND PRIDE 1
Bracket For Idler Pulley LAND PRIDE 1
Brake Parts JD GATOR 1
Spark Plug — Ngk Bpr2Es JD GATOR 1
Fuel Line Hose 3/8" GENERAL USE 1
Fuel Line Hose 5/16" GENERAL USE 1
Fuel Line Hose 1/4" GENERAL USE 1
Cable Tye Drawer - Assorted GENERAL USE 1
Premium All Season Hyd. Oil - Toro ALL TORO 2
Kubota Utd Hydraulic Oil KUBOTA TRACTORS 6
80W90 Gear Oil - Litres GENERAL USE 1
Protex GENERAL USE 4
Quatro GENERAL USE 5
15W40 Engine Oil - Coca - Lovey'S GENERAL USE 5
Fripp Insecticide GENERAL USE 4
Fripp Deoderizer GENERAL USE 8
Bolt Bin GENERAL USE 1
Terminals/Cotter Pins GENERAL USE 1
Hose Clamp Rack GENERAL USE 1
Rove (Syn Teff) GENERAL USE 1
2 Cycle Engine Oil GENERAL USE 20
Bio-Gize Degreaser GENERAL USE 100
Goco - 10W30 Engine Oil - Lovey'S GENERAL USE 120
Combustion Chamber Cleaner GENERAL USE 8
Chain Lube GENERAL USE 7
Cool-Eze Radiator Cleaner GENERAL USE 2
Soyl Gone GENERAL USE 1
Anti - Sieze (Free) GENERAL USE 3
Heavy Duty Degreaser GENERAL USE 7
Tire Repair Plugs GENERAL USE 1
The Wet Look - Tire Protectant GENERAL USE 2
Thread Locker GENERAL USE 6
Syncool - Grinder Coolant 4L Jugs GENERAL USE 2
White Grease GENERAL USE 6
New Grease GENERAL USE 4



r

Product
Chemical

Type

Amount

(L, KG or G)
Banvel Dicamba Herbicide 11
Uap Mecoprop Herbicide 0
Par Iii Herbicide 14
Cheminova Glyfos Herbicide 3.4
Rivet Herbicide 6.5
Syngenta Reward Herbicide 3.5
Neudorff Fiesta Herbicide 8
Syngenta Daconil Ultrex Fungicide 0
Syngenta Banner Maxx Fungicide 0
Syngenta Concert Fungicide 10
Syngenta Heritage Maxx Fungicide 0
Syngenta Subdue Maxx Fungicide 4
Syngenta Instrata Fungicide 0
Engage Agro Renovo Fungicide 0
Bayer Compass Wp Fungicide 50
Quali-Pro Propiconazole Fungicide 4
Quali-Pro Iprodione Fungicide 0
Syngenta Acelepryn Insecticide 0
Bayer Merit Granular (Kg) Insecticide 2
Quali-Pro Imidacloprid Insecticide 2
Alias Insecticide 0
Acecap Tree Implants Insecticide 70
Syngenta Primo Maxx Pgr 3.78
Quali-Pro T-Nex Pgr 6
Quali-Pro Foursome Indicator 8
Bigfoot Dye ( Packs) Indicator 80



Product Amount
Measure

(Bag or L)
Nutrite U-Maxx 21-0-13 Fairway 18 Bag
Scotts 0-0-45 Greens 7 Bag
Nu-Gro 0-0-21 Sulpo-Mag 9 Bag
Plant Science 0-0-21 22 Bag
Plant Science 13-1-13 Amm. Su1ph 5 Bag
Plant Science 8-16-16 45 Bag
Envirosol 26-2-10 4 Bag
Nutrite Sustane 10-1-4 5.5 Bag
Par-Ex 0-0-21 K-Mag 19 Bag
Aqua-Aid 0-0-15 Verde-Cal K+ 19 Bag
Aqua-Aid Acidiphy 38 L
Nutrite U-Maxx 22-9-19 Soluble 2 Bag
Enpturf N Durance 26-0-0 0 L
Enpturf Talon 0 L
Enpturf Zeta Plex Complete 0 L
Enpturf Zeta Plex Iron 4-0-0 0 L
Nutrite 17-3-8 0 L
Aqua-Aid Oars 0-0-2 44.5 L
Aqua-Aid Oars Ps 132.5 L
Turf Screen 10 L
Megalex 0 L



Fuel Product Qty. (L)
Diesel 600
Unleaded Gasoline 1100



Part Identification Units
Eagle 700 Dr Sprinkler (Internal Assy.) P214700 7
Eagle 750 Dr Sprinkler (Internal Assy.) P214751 1
Eagle 900 Dr Sprinkler (Bodies) 3
Eagle 700 Dr Sprinkler (Bodies) 2
Eagle 700 Dr Sprinkler (Complete) 700E 1
Eagle 900 Dr Sprinkler (Complete) 900E 8
Eagle 500 Dr Sprinkler 4
Eagle 550 Dr Sprinkler 1
2 1/2" Slip Elbow 45 (Glue) 417-025 4
3" Slip Elbow 45 (Glue) 417-030 3
4" Slip Elbow 45 (Glue) 417-040 4
2" Slip Elbow 90 (Glue) 406-020 2
2 1/2" Slip Elbow 90 (Glue) 406-025 4
3" Slip Elbow 90 (Glue) 406-030 3
4" Slip Elbow 90 (Glue) 406-040 1
1" X 1 1/2" Reducer Bushing (Glue) 438-211 1
2" X 1" Reducer Bushing (Thread) 438-249 1
3" X 1 1/2" Reducer Bushing (Thread) 437-337 1
3" X 2" Reducer Bushing (Glue) 437-338 1
3" X 2 1/2" Reducer Bushing (Glue) 437-339 2
4" X 3" Reducer Bushing (Glue) 437-422 1
2" X 2" X 1" 'T' Reducer (Glue) 401-249 3
2" X 2" X 1" 'T' Reducer (Threaded) 402-249 3
2" T (Glue) 401-020 1
2 1/2" 'T' (Glue) 401-025 2
3" T (Glue) 401-030 1
4" T (Glue) 401-040 6
2" Repair Coupling (Slip Fix) Cuf20 2
2 1/2" Repair Coupling (Slip Fix) Cuf25 1
3" Repair Coupling (Slip Fix) Cuf30 1
4" Repair Coupling (Slip Fix) Cuf40 2
3" Compression Coupling (Threaded) 0110-30 1
2" Slip Coupling (Glue) 429-020 2
2 1/2" Coupling (Glue) 429-025 3
3" Slip Coupling (Glue) 429-030 5
4" Slip Coupling (Glue) 429-040 1
1 1/4" Cap Threaded 448-012 1
1 1/2" Cap Threaded 448-015 3
2" Cap (Glue) 447-020 2
2 1/2" Cap (Glue) 447-025 2
3" Plug Spigot 449-030 1
P70 Primer (70Pt) 1 Quart 2
711 Grey Glue (711Pt) 1 Quart 2
1 1/2" X 1 1/2" Swing Joint (Acme) Bag3Mo212 5
1 1/2" X 1 1/4" Swing Joint (Acme)Bag34A212 6
1 1/4" X 1 1/4" Swing Joint Adaptor (Acme) Bag202012 7
1 1/2" X 1 1/2" Swing Joint Adaptor (Acme) Bag302015 2
1 1/2" X 1 1/2" Swing Joint Elbow (Acme) Bag302000 2
2" Gate Valve 200Gv 5
Dbr Wire Connectors 65
Solenoid P-N206920-01 17
700 Series Diaphram Valves P211468 10
900 Series Diaphram Valves P211266 4
700 Series Snap Ring Axp211921-01 90
Pvc 160 Psi Pipe 2" 160-200 50
Pvc 160 Psi Pipe 2.5" 160-250 41
Pvc 160 Psi Pipe 3" 160-300 60



Product Qty. (Ibs)
T-1 Bentgrass 10
Bluegrass Shade Mix 20
Low Mow Bluegrass Mix 120
Ryegrass Mix 15
Super Sun Mix 40



Product Est. Tons
Hutcheson 'B' Topdressing Sand 25
Divot Mix 15
80/20 Divot Mix 10



SCHEDULE 3

PERMITTED ENCUMBRANCES

a. Reservations, limitations, provisos and conditions expressed in any original grant
from the Crown.

b. Liens for taxes, local improvements, assessments or governmental charges or
levies not at the time due or delinquent.

c. The provisions of governing municipal by-laws, including those relating to zoning.

d. Any rights of expropriation, access or use, or any other similar rights conferred or
reserved by or in any statute of Canada or Ontario.

e. Undetermined, inchoate or statutory liens and charges (including the liens of
public utilities, workers, suppliers of materials, builders, contractors, architects
and unpaid Vendor of moveable property) incidental to the current operation of
the Lands which relate to obligations not yet due or delinquent and which have
not been registered in accordance with applicable law.

3146977.3



SCHEDULE 4

CONTRACTS AND COMMITMENTS

CONTRACTS:

See Leases below.

LEASES:

Leases of assets and/or equipment with the following lessors including all those set out in thePPSA search results against the Vendor:

- Maxium Financial

- John Deere Financial

- National Leasing

- Turf Care Financial

EMPLOYEES:

COURSE

Jerry Richard: Superintendent $79,309. Refer to written employment contract for full details.
Contract expires December 31, 2018.

John Atkinson: Asst. Superintendent $1692.30 by-weekly. $44,000. Service time 21 years.

Jason McMillan: Asst. Superintendent $1634.62 by-weekly. $42,500. Service time 18 years.

Mark Ryder: Mechanic: $1884.61 by-weekly. $49,000. Service time 36 years (returning to work
March 20, 2017).

ADMINISTRATION 

Laura Harmer: Assistant administration $17.75/hour. Service time 14 years

3146977.3



SCHEDULE 5

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See attached.

3146977.3



Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Unaudited - See Notice to Reader

NOTICE TO READER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Changes in Net (Deficit) Assets

Statement of Operations

Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

Schedule of Income - Golf

Schedule of Income - Clubhouse

Schedule of Income - Pro Shop

Schedule of Expenses
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Symons, Wearn  &  SmithLLP
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

NOTICE TO READER

On the basis of information provided by management, we have compiled the statement
of financial position of Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited as at December 31, 2016
and the statements of operations, cash flows and change in surplus (deficit) for the year
then ended.

We have not performed an audit or a review in respect of these financial statements
and, accordingly, we express no assurance thereon.

Readers are cautioned that these statements may not be appropriate for their purposes.

Woodstock, Ontario

January 23, 2017

.S:ymons,lfiearn k Smit4 LC12
CPA, CA, Licensed Public Accountants

Unaudited - See Notice to Reader
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OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31 2016 2015

ASSETS

CURRENT

Cash
$ 32,374 $ 256,729Accounts receivable 53,635 140,624Inventory 25,457 50,085Prepaid expenses 68,708 76,267

180,174 523,705
FIXED [Note 1] 2,387,071 2,561,324

$ 2,567,245 $ 3,085,029

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 109,209 $ 114,399Government withholdings payable 19,278 44,563Deferred membership fee and value card revenue 68,148 196,621Current portion of debt [Notes 3 & 4] 1,955,153 2,025,605
2,151,788 2,381,188

NOTES PAYABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS [Note 4] 110,000 182,500

2261,788 2,563.688

NET ASSETS

1,487 common shares 74,350 74,350Contributed surplus 378,975 378,975(Deficit) Surplus (147,868) 68,016
305,457 521,341

$ 2,567,245 $ 3,085,029

APPROVED:

See accompanying notes 3Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

For the year ended December 31 2016 2015

Balance, beginning of year 68,016 262,885

Deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year (215,884) (194,869)

Balance, end of year (147,868) 68,016

See accompanying notes
Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31 2016 2015

REVENUE

Golf $ 1,082,539 $ 1,206,179
Clubhouse 835,370 843,880
Pro shop 267,613 336,624

2,185,522 2,386,683
OPERATING EXPENSES

Golf 521,906 620,808
Clubhouse 814,196 877,375
Pro Shop 382,224 419,001

1,718,326 1,917,184
OPERATING MARGIN 467,196 469,499
EXPENSES

Administrative 419,377 370,702
Depreciation 174,255 186,934
Financial 119,174 131,865

712,806 689,501
Loss from operations (245,610) (220,002)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest income 979
Other revenue 28,726 24,154
Gain on disposal of fixed assets 1,000

29,726 25,133
DEFICIENCY OF REVENUE EXPENSES for the year $ (215,884) $ (194,869)

See accompanying notes 5
Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended December 31 2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash from operations:
Deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year $ (215,884) $ (194,869)Depreciation 174,255 186,934

(41,629) (7,935)
Net change in non-cash working capital items [Note 5] (39,774) (99,754)

(81,403) (107,689)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Decrease in due to shareholders (37,500) (25,000)Decrease in long term liabilities (105,452) (99,596)
(142,952) (124,596)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to fixed assets (34,439)

DECREASE IN CASH (224,355) (266,724)
CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 256,729 523,453
CASH - END OF YEAR $ 32,374 $ 256,729

See accompanying notes 6
Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2016

1. FIXED ASSETS

Cost
Accumulated
Depreciation

2016
Net

2015
Net

Land $ 162,548 $ 162,548 $ 162,548
Course improvements 1,397,907 1,113,673 284,234 355,667
Buildings 3,247,213 1,416,137 1,831,076 1,908,433
Pavement 196,391 171,388 25,003 29,415
Equipment 953,858 886,935 66,923 83,653
Furniture and fixtures 204,809 187,522 17,287 21,608

$ 6,162,726 $ 3,775,655 $ 2,387,071 $ 2,561,324

The provides depreciation on its fixed assets using the straight-line and diminishingbalance methods at the following rates: course improvements - 10 to 25 years,buildings - 25 years, pavement - 15%, equipment, furniture and fixtures - 20%.

2. BANK LOAN

The Company has an authorized line of credit of $150,000 (2015 - $150,000), ofwhich $150,000 (2015 - $150,000) remained unused at December 31, 2016. The lineof credit bears interest at the TD Canada Trust prime business lending rate.

The Company has signed a general security agreement representing a first chargeagainst the Company's assets and undertakings. In addition, there is a collateralmortgage in the amount of $3,000,000 on the Company's real property andassignment of fire insurance covering building, equipment and inventory. The creditagreement includes a covenant whereby a debt service coverage ratio of 105% mustbe maintained, and is renewable each year. The Company was not in compliancewith this covenant as of the balance sheet date. As a result, the total outstandingbalance of the mortgage payable has been recorded as a current liability for financialstatement purposes.

3. LONG-TERM DEBT

Mortgage payable - TD Commercial Banking, 3.87%,
repayable $15,085 principal and interest monthly,
security as summarized in note 2, due June 2020

Less: Current portion of long term debt

2016 2015

$ 1,905,153 $ 2,010,605
1,905,153 2,010,605

7
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OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2016

4. NOTES PAYABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The notes payable to shareholders are non-interest bearing with the principal
repayable upon request from note holder.

The Company will repay up to a maximum of $50,000 annually on these notes
payable based on requests received prior to February 28th of that year. As a result,
$50,000 has been included in the current portion of debt balance on the balance
sheet.

During the year, the Company issued nil notes payable for cash consideration of $nil
(2015 - nil for cash consideration of $nil) and repaid fifteen notes payable for $37,500
(2015 - ten for cash consideration of $25,000).

5. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS
The changes in non-cash working capital consists of:

2016 2015

Decrease in accounts receivable $ 86,989 $ 88,552
Decrease in inventory 24,628 54,385
Decrease (Increase) in prepaid expenses 7,559 (1,352)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (5,190) (45,373)
Decrease in government withholdings payable (25,283) (16,816)
Decrease in deferred membership fee and value card

revenue (128,473) (179,150)
$ (39,770)$ (99,754)

6. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2015 were audited by
Symons, Wearn & Smith LLP. Certain prior year comparative figures have been
reclassified to conform with the financial statement presentation adopted for the
current year.

8
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OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

SCHEDULE OF INCOME - GOLF

For the year ended December 31 2016 2015

REVENUE

Golf fees 723,175 997,599Green fees 359,364 208,580

1,082,539 1,206,179
EXPENSES

Course maintenance 177,353 200,143Employee benefits 27,903 41,099Fuel
15,830 20,356Salaries and wages 288,855 343,085Sundry (396) 152Utilities 12,361 15,973

521,906 620,808
DEPARTMENTAL INCOME $ 560,633 585,371

See accompanying notes
Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

SCHEDULE OF INCOME - CLUBHOUSE

For the year ended December 31 2016 2015

REVENUE

Food 507,348 $ 509,923
Beverages 299,910 310,366
Minimum assessment 3,212 6,177
Other 24,900 17,414

835,370 843,880

EXPENSES

Cost of sales 269,003 337,532
Employee benefits 46,632 40,475
Janitorial 3,612 23,800
Laundry 9,375 16,537
Repairs and maintenance 17,716 9,058
Salaries and wages 330,515 314,203
Supplies 48,151 62,156
Utilities 89,192 73,614

814,196 877,375

DEPARTMENTAL INCOME (LOSS) 21,174 (33,495)

See accompanying notes 10
Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

SCHEDULE OF INCOME - PRO SHOP

For the year ended December 31 2016 2015

REVENUE

Pro shop 182,162 179,537
Cart rentals 74,229 99,915
Range 2,348 10,658
Handicapping 53 5,551
Club and cart storage 8,820 40,963

267,612 336,624

EXPENSES

Cart rentals 49,879 62,156
Cost of sales 158,811 170,848
Employee benefits 9,445 14,835
Range 2,421 483
Repairs and maintenance 548 363
Salaries and wages 152,336 153,436
Supplies 8,784 16,880

382,224 419,001

DEPARTMENTAL LOSS $ (114,612) (82,377)

See accompanying notes 11
Unaudited - See Notice to Reader



OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES

For the year ended December 31 2016 2015

ADMINISTRATIVE

Advertising and promotion 44,396 15,457
Employee benefits 50,550 33,550
Insurance 36,520 33,933
Office supplies 66,073 64,075
Professional fees 20,434 25,313
Property taxes 62,780 62,806
Salaries and wages 138,624 135,568

419,377 370,702

FINANCIAL

Bank charges and short term interest 43,609 47,343
Interest - long term 75,565 84,522

119,174 131,865

See accompanying notes 12
Unaudited - See Notice to Reader
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Ministry of the Environment
Southwestern Region
Technical Support Section
Water Resources
733 Exeter Rd
London ON N6E 1L3
Fax: (519)873-5020
Tel: (519) 873-4774

March 16, 2011

Ministere de l'Environnement
Direction regionale du Sud-Ouest
Section du Soutien Technique
Ressource en eau
733 Exeter Rd
London ON N6E 1L3
Telecopieur (519)873-5020
Tel:(519) 873-4774

Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited
595838 Highway 59 N
Woodstock, Ontario
N4S 7W1

Dear Sir/Madam:

RE: Permit To Take Water Number 0666-8ELKVY
Reference Number 1582-8BXQMT

Pi"->tis-- Ontario

Please find attached a Permit to Take Water which authorizes the withdrawal of water inaccordance with the application for this Permit to Take Water, dated November 29, 2010 andsigned by Jerry Richard.

Ontario Regulation 387/04 (Water Taking) requires all water takers to report daily water taking amountsto the Water Taking Reporting System (WTRS) electronic database:
http://www.ene.gov.on.ca/envision/water/pttw.htm. Daily water taking must be reported on a calendaryear basis. If no water is taken, then a "no taking" report must be entered. Please consult the Regulationand Section 4 of this Permit for monitoring requirements.

If you have questions about reporting requirements, please call the WTRS Help Desk at 416-235-6322(toll free: 1-877-344-2011) or by email, WTRSHelpdesk@ontario.ca. It is preferred that you submit yourdata directly and electronically to the WTRS. Where this is impracticable, please use the Water TakingSubmission Form (included as Appendix C of the Technical Bulletin.- Permit To Take Water (PTTW) -Monitoring and Reporting of Water Takings ), which can be downloaded from the above web site, and faxyour completed forms to 416-235-6549 or mail them to: Water User Reporting Section, 125 ResourcesRd. Toronto, ON M9P 3V6.

Take notice that in issuing this Permit, terms and conditions pertaining to the taking of water and to theresults of the taking have been imposed. The terms and conditions have been designed to allow for thedevelopment of water resources, while providing reasonable protection to existing water uses and users.

Yours truly,



Ian Kerr
Supervisor, Water Resources
Southwestern Region

File Storage Number: SIOXEZC12.220



Pv-Ontario Ministry of the Environment
Ministere de l'Environnement

PERMIT TO TAKE WATER
Surface and Ground Water
NUMBER 0666-8ELKVY

Pursuant to Section 34 of the Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990 this Permit To
Take Water is hereby issued to:

Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited
595838 Hietway 59 N
Woodstock, Ontario, N4S 7W1
Canada

For the water Well #4, Mud Creek, Well #5, Pond # 7
taking from:
Located at: Lot 14, 15, Concession 12.

East Zorra-Tavistock, County of Oxford

For the purposes of this Permit, and the terms and conditions specified below, the following definitionsapply:

DEFINITIONS

(a) "Director" means any person appointed in writing as a Director pursuant to section 5 of the
OWRA for the purposes of section 34, OWRA.

(b) "Provincial Officer" means any person designated in writing by the Minister as a Provincial
Officer pursuant to section 5 of the OWRA.

(c) "Ministry" means Ontario Ministry of the Environment.

(d) "District Office" means the London District Office.

(e) "Permit" means this Permit to Take Water No. 0666-8ELKVY including its Schedules, if any,
issued in accordance with Section 34 of the OWRA.

(f) "Permit Holder" means Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited.

(g) "OWRA " means the Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. O. 40, as amended.

You are hereby notified that this Permit is issued subject to the terms and conditions outlined
below:
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Compliance with Permit

1.1 Except where modified by this Permit, the water taking shall be in accordance with the
application for this Permit To Take Water, dated November 29, 2010 and signed by Jerry
Richard, and all Schedules included in this Permit.

1.2 The Permit Holder shall ensure that any person authorized by the Permit Holder to take water
under this Permit is provided with a copy of this Permit and shall take all reasonable measuresto ensure that any such person complies with the conditions of this Permit.

1.3 Any person authorized by the Permit Holder to take water under this Permit shall comply withthe conditions of this Permit.

1.4 This Permit is not transferable to another person.

1.5 This Permit provides the Permit Holder with permission to take water in accordance with the
conditions of this Permit, up to the date of the expiry of this Permit. This Permit does not
constitute a legal right, vested or otherwise, to a water allocation, and the issuance of this Permitdoes not guarantee that, upon its expiry, it will be renewed.

1.6 The Permit Holder shall keep this Permit available at all times at or near the site of the taking,
and shall produce this Permit immediately for inspection by a Provincial Officer upon his or herrequest.

1.7 The Permit Holder shall report any changes of address to the Director within thirty days of anysuch change. The   Holder shall report any change of ownership of the property for whichthis Permit is issued within thirty days of any such change. A change in ownership in the
property shall cause this Permit to be cancelled.

2. General Conditions and Interpretation

2.1 Inspections
The Permit Holder must forthwith, upon presentation of credentials, permit a Provincial Officerto carry out any and all inspections authorized by the OWRA, the Environmental Protection Act ,R.S.O. 1990, the Pesticides Act , R.S.O. 1990, or the Safe Drinking Water Act, S. O. 2002.

2.2 Other Approvals
The issuance of, and compliance with this Permit, does not:

(a) relieve the Permit Holder or any other person from any obligation to comply with any otherapplicable legal requirements, including the provisions of the Ontario Water Resources Act , andthe Environmental Protection Act , and any regulations made thereunder; or
(b) limit in any way any authority of the Ministry, a Director, or a Provincial Officer, including
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the authority to require certain steps be taken or to require the Peiinit Holder to furnish anyfurther information related to this Permit.

2.3 Information

The receipt of any information by the Ministry, the failure of the Ministry to take any action orrequire any person to take any action in relation to the information, or the failure of a ProvincialOfficer to prosecute any person in relation to the information, shall not be construed-as:
(a) an approval, waiver or justification by the Ministry of any act or omission of any person thatcontravenes this Permit or other legal requirement; or

(b) acceptance by the Ministry of the information's completeness or accuracy.

2.4 Rights of Action
The issuance of, and compliance with this Permit shall not be construed as precluding orlimiting any legal claims or rights of action that any person, including the Crown in right ofOntario or any agency thereof, has or may have against the Permit Holder, its officers,employees, agents, and contractors.

2.5 Severability
The requirements of this Permit are severable. If any requirements of this Permit, or theapplication of any requirements of this Permit to any circumstance, is held invalid orunenforceable, the application of such requirements to other circumstances and the remainder ofthis Permit shall not be affected thereby.

2.6 Conflicts
Where there is a conflict between a provision of any submitted document referred to in thisPermit, including its Schedules, and the conditions of this Permit, the conditions in this Permitshall take precedence.

3. Water Takings Authorized by This Permit

3.1 Expiry
This Permit expires on March 31, 2021. No water shall be taken under authority of this Permitafter the expiry date.

3.2 Amounts of Taking Permitted
The Permit Holder shall only take water from the source, during the periods and at the rates andamounts of taking specified in Table A. Water takings are authorized only for the purposesspecified in Table A.

Table A

,Source Name Source: taking Taking  Max. Max. Num. Max. Taken Max. Num. of Zonel/ Description:: Specific Major Taken per Hof Hrs Taken per Day , Days Taken • EastingtType: Purpose: Category: Minute per Day: ' (litres): 1 per Year: Northing:(tares):
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t Well #4 Well Goff COUrsel COMMercial 682 16 654,720 153 17 "-
Irrigation 516631Drilled 4783892

2 Mud Creek Stream Golf Course Commercial 400 8 i 192,000 153 17
Irrigation 516558

4783892
3 • Well #5 Well Golf Course Commercial 91 24 131,040 100 17

Irrigation 517120Drilled 4783395
Total 977,760
Taking:

3 .3 Pond #7 identified on the application, is a storage pond which is the sole source for direct
irrigation. This pond will be recharged from sources 1, 2 and 3 as identified from Table A. The
water taking from Pond # 7 is not required to be reported.

3 .4 Wells #4 and #5 as identified on Table A, are the primary sources of water to recharge Pond #7
the storage pond. Wells #4 and #5 must be utilized first, up to the maximum amounts allowed
described in Table A before a water taking can be initiated in Mud Creek.

3.5 Any water taking from Mud Creek, even less than 50,000 L/day, must be metered, documented
and reported.

3.6 Notwithstanding Table A and the maximum rate of taking, a water taking from Mud Creek
occurring at less than 50,000 L/day must not exceed 200 L/min.

3.7 For the first two years of this Permit, i.e. 2011 and 2012 and notwithstanding the Table A
maximum rate of taking identified for source 2 ( Mud Creek ), any water taking from Mud
Creek is to be linked to the flows being monitored at the HYDAT station in the Middle Thames
River located at Thamesford. Daily flow rates at the Thamesford location can be viewed at the
Upper Thames River Conservation Authority web site. These water taking rates from Mud
Creek are to be done accordingly:

a) > 1 cubic meter per second ( cms) at the Thamesford HYDAT station will allow up to 400
L/min for a maximum of 8 hours per day at Mud Creek.

b) > 0.5 cms and < 1.0 cms at the Thamesford HYDAT station will allow up to 200 L/min for a
Maximum of 10 hours per day at Mud Creek.

c) < 0.5 cms at the Thamesford HYDAT station and any water taking from Mud Creek greater
than 50,000 L/day must cease.

3.8 During the first two years of this Permit ( 2011 and 2012) a Qualified Person ( QP ) as defined
in the Permit To Take Water Manual, is to develop a stage/discharge curve for Mud Creek to
govern any water taking from Mud Creek for the remainder of the Permit. Once this
stage/discharge curve has been developed after year two of this Permit, condition 3.8 is to
replace condition 3.7 of this Permit and the water taking rates from Mud Creek are to occur as

Page 4 - NUMBER 0666-8ELKVY



follows and notwithstanding Table A:

a) Instantaneous flow rates in Mud Creek greater than 4,000 L/min will allow for the taking of400 L/min for a maximum of 8 hours per day.

b) Instantaneous flow rates in Mud Creek less than 4,000 L/min and greater than 2,000 L/min,will allow for the taking of 200 L/min for a maximum of 10 hours per day.

c) Instantaneous flow rates in Mud Creek less than 2,000 L/min and any water taking from MudCreek greater than 50,000 L/day must cease.

3.9 The staff gauge to monitor flows in Mud Creek is to be properly located, secured, maintainedand replaced if necessary.

3.10 If the staff gauge identified in condition 3.9 is damaged / stolen, then water taking in MudCreek can be initiated as per condition 3.7. A staff gauge that is damaged / stolen must bereplaced in a timely manner so as to invoke condition 3.8.

4. Monitoring

4.1 The Permit Holder shall, on each day water is taken under the authorization of this Permit,record the date, the volume of water taken on that date and the rate at which it was taken. Thedaily volume of water taken shall be measured by a flow meter or calculated in accordance withthe method described in the application for this Permit or as otherwise accepted by the Director.A separate record shall be maintained for each source. The Permit Holder shall keep all recordsrequired by this condition current and available at or near the site of the taking and shallproduce the records immediately for inspection by a Provincial Officer upon his or her request.The Permit Holder, unless otherwise required by the Director, shall submit, on or before March
3 every year, the daily water taking data collected and recorded for the previous year to theministry's Water Taking Reporting System.

5. Impacts of the Water Taking

5.1 Notification
The Permit Holder shall immediately notify the local District Office of any complaint arisingfrom the taking of water authorized under this Permit and shall report any action which has beentaken or is proposed with regard to such complaint. The Permit Holder shall immediately notifythe local District Office if the taking of water is observed to have any significant impact on thesurrounding waters. After hours, calls shall be directed to the Ministry's Spills Action Centre at1-800-268-6060.

5.2 For Surface-Water Takings
The taking of water (including the taking of water into storage and the subsequent orsimultaneous withdrawal from storage) shall be carried out in such a manner that streamflow isnot stopped and is not reduced to a rate that will cause interference with downstream uses of
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water or with the natural functions of the stream.

For Groundwater Takings
If the taking of water is observed to cause any negative impact to other water supplies obtained
from any adequate sources that were in use prior to initial issuance of a Permit for this water
taking, the Permit Holder shall take such action necessary to make available to those affected, a
supply of water equivalent in quantity and quality to their normal takings, or shall compensate
such persons for their reasonable costs of so doing, or shall reduce the rate and amount of takingto prevent or alleviate the observed negative impact. Pending permanent restoration of the
affected supplies, the Permit Holder shall provide, to those affected; temporary water supplies
adequate to meet their normal requirements, or shall compensate such persons for their
reasonable costs of doing so.

If permanent interference is caused by the water taking, the Permit Holder shall restore the water
supplies of those permanently affected.

6. Director May Amend Permit
The Director may amend this Permit by letter requiring the Permit Holder to suspend or reducethe taking to an amount or threshold specified by the Director in the letter. The suspension or
reduction in taking shall be effective immediately and may be revoked at any time upon
notification by the Director. This condition does not affect your right to appeal the suspension
or reduction in taking to the Environmental Review Tribunal under the Ontario Water
Resources Act , Section 100 (4).

The reasons for the imposition of these terms and conditions are as follows:

1. Condition 1 is included to ensure that the conditions in this Permit are complied with and can beenforced.

2. Condition 2 is included to clarify the legal interpretation of aspects of this Permit.

3. Conditions 3 through 6 are included to protect the quality of the natural environment so as tosafeguard the ecosystem and human health and foster efficient use and conservation of waters.These conditions allow for the beneficial use of waters while ensuring the fair sharing,
conservation and sustainable use of the waters of Ontario. The conditions also specify the water
takings that are authorized by this Permit and the scope of this Permit.
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In accordance with Section 100 of the Ontario Water Resources Act, R.S.O. 1990, you may by written
notice served upon me, the Environmental Review Tribunal and the Environmental Commissioner,
Environmental Bill of Rights, R.S.O. 1993, Chapter 28, within 15 days after receipt of this Notice,
require a hearing by the Tribunal. The Environmental Commissioner will place notice of your appeal
on the Environmental Registry. Section 101 of the Ontario Water Resources Act, as amended provides
that the Notice requiring a hearing shall state:
1. The portions of the Permit or each term or condition in the Permit in respect of which the hearing

is required, and;
2. The grounds on which you intend to rely at the hearing in relation to each portion appealed.

In addition to these legal requirements, the Notice should also include:
3. The name of the appellant;
4. The address of the appellant;
5. The Permit to Take Water number;
6. The date of the Permit to Take Water;
7. The name of the Director;
8. The municipality within which the works are located;

This notice must be served upon:

The Secretary
Environmental Review Tribunal AND
655 Bay Street, 15th Floor
Toronto ON
M5G 1E5

The Environmental Commissioner
1075 Bay Street
6th Floor, Suite 605
Toronto, Ontario itl5S 2W5

The Director, Section 34
.4ND Ministry of the Environment

733 Exeter Rd
London ON N6E I L3
Fax: (519)873-5020

Further information on the Environmental Review Tribunal's requirements for an appeal can be obtained directly from
the Tribunal:

by telephone at (416) 314-4600 by fax at (416) 314-4506 by e-mail at www.ert,gov.on.ca

This instrument is subject to Section 38 of the Environmental Bill of Rights that allows residents of
Ontario to seek leave to appeal the decision on this instrument. Residents of Ontario may seek to
appeal for 15 days from the date this decision is placed on the Environmental Registry. By accessing
the Environmental Registry, you can determine when the leave to appeal period ends.

Dated at London this 16th day of March, 2011.

Ian Kerr
Director, Section 34
Ontario Water Resources Act , R.S.O. 1990
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Schedule A

This Schedule "A" forms part of Permit To Take Water 0666-8ELKVY, dated March 16, 2011.
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SCHEDULE 8

PREPAID EXPENSES

ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES BY PURCHASER. 

The liability amounts are as at March 15 and will not change to closing. Refer to Page 5 (2.1(h)) and
Page 6 (2.3).

Gift certificates $24,145.90

Pre- paid green fee cards 78,902.71

Pre-paid cart fees 7,206.67

Pro-shop credits 4.620.67

TOTAL $114,875.95

CLUB SECTION CREDITS BEING ASSUMED BY PURCHASER

Women's invitational $1,751.98

Women's League 1,344.96

Women's section 390.58

Men's league 502.68

Mixed golf 184.07

Club championship 103.25

TOTAL $4,277.52

3173221.1



r
I 1

r

fI

n

THE FOLLOWING IS EXHIBIT "D"

TO THE AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID BALFOUR

SWORN BEF

-1

P

TH D 7 OF FEBRUARY, 2018

missioner,



CERTIFIED COPY OF A SPECIAL RESOLUTION

FROM THE MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF

SHAREHOLDERS OF

OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED
(the "Corporation")

HELD DECEMBER 21, 2017

BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1. A resolution to authorize the Corporation to apply to the Superior
Court of Justice under section 243 of the Corporations Act to approve the
winding up of the Corporation to commence after March 23, 2018 and in
such application to request that the Court authorize the appointment of a
liquidator for the purpose of winding up its affairs and distributing its
property, namely BDO Canada Limited, and the directors of the
Corporation are hereby authorized and approved to take any and all
actions required to give effect to the foregoing.

I, David Balfour, being the President of the Corporation, do hereby certify that the special
resolution above is an excerpt of a true copy of a resolution duly passed by the
shareholders of the Corporation at a special meeting of the shareholders of the
Corporation held December 21, 2017.

DATED as of the  to  day of J 2018.

7264239.1

David Balfour, President



THE FOLLOWING IS EXHIBIT "E"

TO THE AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID BALFOUR

SWORN BEFORE ME THIS 6TH DAY 0 FEBRUARY, 2018

A Co



Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

IN THE MATTER OF THE LIQUIDATION AND WINDING-UP OF
OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 244 OF THE
CORPORATIONS ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.38

CONSENT

BDO CANADA LIMITED, HEREBY CONSENTS to the appointment as Liquidator of

Oxford Golf and Country Club Limited, substantially on the terms of the Order attached

at Tab 3 to the Application record.

Dated this  2 day of February, 2018

BDO CANADA LIMITED

//

As propo Liquidator and not in any other
corporate or personal capacity

Per:
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THE HONOURABLE

JUSTICE

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

Court File No. 330/18

TUESDAY, THE 20TH

DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018

IN THE MATTER OF THE LIQUIDATION AND WINDING-UP OF
OXFORD GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB, LIMITED

APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 244 OF THE
CORPORATIONS ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.38

ORDER

THIS APPLICATION made by the Applicant for an Order pursuant to sections

243(a), 243(d), 245, 246, 251, and 255 of the Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.38,

as amended (the "Act), inter alia, winding up Oxford Golf and Country Club, Limited

(the "Corporation"), and appointing BDO Canada Limited as liquidator (the

"Liquidator") without security, of all of the estates and effects of the Corporation for the

purpose of winding up its affairs and distributing its property, was heard this day at 80

Dundas Street, London, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of David Balfour sworn February 6, 2018 and the

Exhibits thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Corporation, and on

n reading the consent of BDO Canada Limited to act as the Liquidator,

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and

the Application is hereby abridged and validated so that this Application is properly

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.
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WINDING-UP & APPOINTMENT OF LIQUIDATOR

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to sections 243(a), 243(d), and 245 of the

Act, the Corporation be wound-up in accordance with the terms of this Order.

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 246 of the Act, BDO Canada

Limited is hereby appointed Liquidator, without security, of all of the estate and effects

of the Corporation, including all proceeds thereof (the "Property").

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that, from the date of this Order, the Corporation shall

cease to carry on its undertaking, except in so far as may be required to:

(a) satisfy any claim under the indemnity owing to Cardinal Golf Group

(Craigowan) Inc. ("Cardinal"); and

(b) wind-up the Corporation.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that notwithstanding paragraph 2, the Liquidator shall

not distribute or otherwise disperse funds in its possession or complete the wind-up of

the Corporation until after March 23, 2018

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that all transfers of shares, except transfers made to or

with the sanction of the Liquidator, or alterations in the status of the shareholders or

members of the Corporation, taking place after the date of this Order, are void, but the

Corporation's existence and all its corporate powers, even if it is otherwise provided by

its instrument of incorporation or by-laws, continue until the Corporation's affairs are

wound up.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that all the powers of the directors cease, except in so

far as the Liquidator may sanction the continuance of such powers.

LIQUIDATOR'S POWERS

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator is hereby empowered and authorized,

but not obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way

limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Liquidator is hereby expressly empowered
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and authorized to do any of the following where the Liquidator considers it necessary or

desirable:

(a) to take possession of and exercise control over the Property and

any and all proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or

from the Property;

(b) to carry on the business of the Corporation so far as is necessary

for the beneficial winding up of the Corporation;

(c) to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors,

accountants, managers, counsel and such other persons from time

to time and on whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to

assist with the exercise of the Liquidator's powers and duties,

including without limitation those conferred by this Order;

(d) to draw, accept, make and endorse any bill of exchange or

promissory note in the name and on behalf of the Corporation;

(e) to receive and collect all monies and accounts now owed or

hereafter owing to the Corporation and to exercise all remedies of

the Corporation in collecting such monies, including, without

limitation, to enforce any security held by the Corporation;

(f)

(g)

to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the

Corporation;

to do all acts and execute, in the name and on behalf of the

corporation, all deeds, receipts and other documents, and for the

purpose use the seal of the corporation;

(h) to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all

proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or

hereafter instituted with respect to the Corporation, the Property or

the Liquidator, and to settle or compromise any such proceedings.
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(i)

CD

The authority hereby conveyed shall extend to such appeals or

applications for judicial review in respect of any order or judgment

pronounced in any such proceeding;

to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as

defined below) as the Liquidator deems appropriate on all matters

relating to the Property and the Liquidation, and to share

information, subject to such terms as to confidentiality as the

Liquidator deems advisable;

to do and execute all such other things as are necessary for

winding up the affairs of the Corporation and distributing its

Property;

and in each case where the Liquidator takes any such actions or steps, it shall be

, exclusively authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons

(as defined below), including the Corporation, and without interference from any other

Person.

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE LIQUIDATOR

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Corporation, (ii) all of its current and former

directors, officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and shareholders,

and all other persons acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals,

firms, corporations, governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of

this Order (all of the foregoing, collectively, being "Persons" and each being a "Person")

shall forthwith advise the Liquidator of the existence of any Property in such Person's

possession or control, shall grant immediate and continued access to the Property to

the Liquidator, and shall deliver all such Property to the Liquidator upon the Liquidator's

request.

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Liquidator of

the existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and

accounting records, and any other papers, records and information of any kind related
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to the business or affairs of the Corporation, and any computer programs, computer

tapes, computer disks, or other data storage media containing any such information (the

foregoing, collectively, the "Records") in that Person's possession or control, and shall

provide to the Liquidator or permit the Liquidator to make, retain and take away copies

thereof and grant to the Liquidator unfettered access to and use of accounting,

computer, software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that

nothing in this paragraph 10 or in paragraph 9 of this Order shall require the delivery of

Records, or the granting of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided

to the Liquidator due to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to

statutory provisions prohibiting such disclosure.

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on

a computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent

service provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall

forthwith give unfettered access to the Liquidator for the purpose of allowing the

Liquidator to recover and fully copy all of the information contained therein whether by

way of printing the information onto paper or making copies of computer disks or such

other manner of retrieving and copying the information as the Liquidator in its discretion

deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy any Records without the prior

written consent of the Liquidator. Further, for the purposes of this paragraph, all

Persons shall provide the Liquidator with all such assistance in gaining immediate

access to the information in the Records as the Liquidator may in its discretion require

including providing the Liquidator with instructions on the use of any computer or other

system and providing the Liquidator with any and all access codes, account names and

account numbers that may be required to gain access to the information.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE LIQUIDATOR

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court

or tribunal (each, a "Proceeding"), shall be commenced or continued against the

Liquidator except with the written consent of the Liquidator or with leave of this Court.
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NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE CORPORATION OR THE PROPERTY

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the

Corporation or the Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written

consent of the Liquidator or with leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings

currently under way against or in respect of the Corporation or the Property are hereby

stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Corporation, the

Liquidator, or affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the

written consent of the Liquidator or leave of this Court, and further provided that nothing

in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Liquidator or the Corporation to carry on any

business which the Corporation is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) exempt the

Liquidator or the Corporation from compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions

relating to health, safety or the environment, (iii) prevent the filing of any registration to

preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE LIQUIDATOR

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter,

interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract,

agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Corporation, without Written

consent of the Liquidator or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with

the Corporation or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or

services, including without limitation, all computer software, communication and other

data services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation

services, utility or other services to the Corporation are hereby restrained until further

Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply

of such goods or services as may be required by the Liquidator, and that the Liquidator
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shall be entitled to the continued use of the Corporation's current telephone numbers,

facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each case that

the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the date of

this Order are paid by the Liquidator in accordance with normal payment practices of

the Corporation or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or

service provider and the Liquidator, or as may be ordered by this Court.

LIQUIDATOR TO HOLD FUNDS

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other

forms of payments received or collected by the Liquidator from and after the making of

this Order from any source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any

of the Property and the collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part,

whether in existence on the date of this Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall

be deposited into one or more new accounts to be opened by the Liquidator (the "Post

Wind-Up Accounts") and the monies standing to the credit of such Post Wind-Up

Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided for herein, shall be held

by the Liquidator to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any further

Order of this Court.

CARDINAL INDEMNITY

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prejudice any claim for

indemnity by Cardinal pursuant to Section 4.1 of the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated

March 23, 2017 (the "APA").

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that notwithstanding paragraphs 13 and 14 of this Order,

Cardinal is entitled to enforce its rights and remedies pursuant to and in accordance

with the Indemnity Provision, including the commencement of a proceeding against the

Corporation, but not the Liquidator, without further order of this Court.

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator shall not make any distribution of the

Corporation's Property to any party unless and until the Indemnity Provision either:

(a) expires in accordance with its terms as contained in the APA;
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(b) is waived by Cardinal under the APA; or

(c) has been paid to the satisfaction of Cardinal or deemed satisfied by

Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that in distributing the property of the corporation, the

wages of all employees, apprentices and other wage earners in the employment of the

corporation due at the date of the commencement of the winding up or within one month

before, not exceeding three months wages and for vacation pay accrued for not more

than twelve months under the Employment Standards Act and the regulations

thereunder or under a collective agreement made by the corporation, shall be paid in

priority to the claims of the ordinary creditors, and such persons are entitled to rank as

ordinary creditors for the residue of their claims;

LIMITATION ON THE LIQUIDATOR'S LIABILITY

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator shall incur no liability or obligation as

a result of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and

except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part..

LIQUIDATOR'S ACCOUNTS

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator and counsel to the Liquidator shall be

paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and

charges unless otherwise ordered by the Court on the passing of accounts, and that the

Liquidator and counsel to the Liquidator shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a

charge (the "Liquidator's Charge") on the Property, as security for such fees and

disbursements, both before and after the making of this Order in respect of these

proceedings, and that the Liquidator's Charge shall form a first charge on the Property

in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or

otherwise, in favour of any Person.
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24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator and its legal counsel shall pass its

accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Liquidator and its

legal counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Liquidator

shall be at liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its

hands, against its fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements,

incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Liquidator or its counsel, and such

amounts shall constitute advances against its remuneration and disbursements when

and as approved by this Court.

GENERAL

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator may from time to time apply to this

Court for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

27. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court,

tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United

States to give effect to this Order and to assist the Liquidator and its agents in carrying

out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies

are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance

to the Liquidator, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give

effect to this Order or to assist the Liquidator and its agents in carrying out the terms of

this Order.

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Liquidator be at liberty and is hereby authorized

and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body,

wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the

terms of this Order, and that the Liquidator is authorized and empowered to act as a

representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these

proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada.
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29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have its costs of this application,

up to and including entry and service of this Order, at the standard and reasonable rates

charged by its counsel, to be paid by the Liquidator from the Corporation's estate.

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary

or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Liquidator and to any

1 other party likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as

this Court may order.



In
 t
he

 M
at
te
r 
of

 t
he

 L
iq
ui
da
ti
on
 a
n
d
 W
in

di
ng
-
U
p
 o
f 
Ox
fo
rd
 G
ol
f 
Co
un
tr
y 
Cl

ub
, 
Li
mi
te
d

Co
ur

t 
Fi

le
 N
o.
: 
33
0/
18

O
N
T
A
R
I
O

S
U
P
E
R
I
O
R
 C
O
U
R
T
 O
F
 J
U
S
T
I
C
E

Pr
oc
ee
di
ng
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 a
t 
L
O
N
D
O
N

O
R
D
E
R

L
E
R
N
E
R
S
 L
L
P

1
3
0
 A
de

la
id

e 
St
re
et
 W
e
s
t
,
 S
ui

te
 2
4
0
0

To
ro
nt
o,
 O
N
 
M
5
H
 3
P
5

D
o
m
e
n
i
c
o
 M
a
g
i
s
a
n
o
 
L
S
#
:
 4
5
7
2
5
E

dm
ag

is
an

o@
le

rn
er

s.
ca

Te
l:

 4
16

.6
01

.4
12

1
Fa

x:
 4
16
.6
01
.4
12
3

Al
an

 M
e
l
a
m
u
d
 
L
S
#
:
 5
8
3
7
0
F

a
m
e
l
a
m
u
d
@
l
e
r
n
e
r
s
.
c
a

Te
l:

 4
16

.6
01

.4
12

8
Fa

x:
 4
16

.6
01

.2
74

8

L
a
w
y
e
r
s
 f
or

 t
he

 A
pp

li
ca

nt



In
th

e
M

a
tt
e

r
o
f

th
e

L
iq

u
id

a
tio

n
a
n

d
W

in
d

in
g
-U

p
o
f

O
xf

o
rd

G
o

lf
C

o
u
n

tr
y

C
lu

b
,

L
im

ite
d

C
o

u
rt

F
ile

N
o

.:
3
3

0
/1

8

O
N

T
A

R
IO

S
U

P
E

R
IO

R
C

O
U

R
T

O
F

J
U

S
T

IC
E

P
ro

ce
e
d

in
g

co
m

m
e
n

ce
d

a
t

L
O

N
D

O
N

A
P

P
L

IC
A

T
IO

N
R

E
C

O
R

D
(r

e
tu

rn
a

b
le

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

2
0

,
2

0
1
8

)

L
E

R
N

E
R

S
L
L
P

1
3

0
A

d
e

la
id

e
S

tr
e

e
t
W

e
st

,
S

u
ite

2
4

0
0

T
o

ro
n

to
,

O
N

M
5

H
3

P
5

D
o

m
e
n

ic
o

M
a

g
is

a
n

o
L
S

#
:

4
5

7
2

5
E

d
m

a
g
is

a
n
o

@
le

rn
e

rs
.c

a
T

e
l:

4
1
6

.6
0

1
.4

1
2
1

F
a

x:
4

1
6

.6
0

1
.4

1
2

3

A
la

n
M

e
la

m
u
d

L
S

#
:

5
8

3
7
0

F
a

m
e

la
m

u
d
@

le
rn

e
rs

.c
a

T
e

l:
4

1
6

.6
0

1
.4

1
2
8

F
a

x:
4

1
6

.6
0

1
.2

7
4

8

L
a

w
ye

rs
fo

r
th

e
A

p
p

lic
a

n
t


